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This annual report details State Trustees’ business 
performance for the 2009/10 financial year.

At State Trustees we are committed to transparent and 
open reporting. The report provides a concise summary of 
our performance for the financial year ending 30 June 2010. 
It reviews our performance against our strategic objectives 
and records our financial performance in accordance with 
the requirements of the State Trustees (State Owned 
Company) Act 1994 and other regulatory requirements.

Additional copies
Copies of this annual report can be obtained by:

• Visiting our website at www.statetrustees.com.au

•  Telephoning State Trustees on 9667 6444 or  
1300 138 672 (local call cost from outside the  
metropolitan area)

Location
Our registered office and principal place of business is:

• 168 Exhibition St, Melbourne, 3000

> Phone 9667 6444

Our customer service offices

• Suite 22, 2nd floor,  
40 Montclair Ave,  
Glen Waverley, 3150

> Phone 9667 6444

• 307 Main Street,  
Mornington, 3931

> Phone 9667 6444

• Personal Financial Solutions,  
593 Little Bourke St,  
Melbourne, 3000

• Shop 4,  
157 Lonsdale St (corner of Foster St)  
Dandenong, 3175

> Phone 9667 6444

• 74 Pall Mall 
Bendigo, 3550 (opening October 2010)

> Phone 1300 138 672

For further information & to contact us

• State Trustees’ website can be accessed at:

> www.statetrustees.com.au

• For the cost of a local call,  
you can contact all our offices on:

> 9667 6444 or 1300 138 672
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Company Overview

 We believe every 
Victorian deserves 
access to support 
they can trust 
regardless of  
their personal 
circumstances.

Since 1939 State Trustees has played an important role in the lives of 
Victorians. Through a diverse range of products and services, we help 
people with their financial needs so they can make the most of their 
opportunities and protect the important things in their lives.

State Trustees is well known as specialists in preparing Wills. In fact, we 
write more Wills and administer more deceased estates than any other 
organisation in Victoria.

While these are the services State Trustees is best known for, we also offer 
a diverse range of professional services including Trustee, Executor and 
Attorneyship services, along with astute financial advice and management 
– all aimed at helping Victorians protect and build their assets.

At State Trustees, we have always balanced our commercial enterprise  
with our community obligations. We believe every Victorian deserves  
access to support they can trust regardless of their personal circumstances. 
That’s why we provide expert financial and legal assistance by acting as 
administrator for almost 9,000 people in the community who are unable  
to look after their own affairs due to disability, mental illness or other 
circumstances.

Because we’re owned by the State of Victoria and we 
also compete in the commercial world, you can be sure 
we are reliable, trustworthy and professional while 
providing competitive products and services.

State Trustees makes a significant contribution to the social good of 
Victoria. An important part of our contribution is to invest back into the 
community. Our connectedTM exhibition for artists with a disability or 
experience of mental illness, a comprehensive community grants program, 
the State Trustees Charity Ball, and our updated workplace giving program, 
(Wholehearted Giving), are just a few examples of our charitable projects  
to support the community.

We also take an active role in advocating for our clients on issues that 
affect them. Financial elder abuse, ageing, disability, homelessness, and 
demystifying death and dying, are our primary areas of focus and we work 
hard to influence change and improve conditions in our community.

Our employees are highly skilled, experienced and motivated. They care 
about their clients and we achieve strong levels of employee engagement 
and satisfaction.

This year has been an important one for State Trustees. In the fourth year  
of our five year strategic plan 2006–2011, we have reviewed and refreshed 
our corporate strategy, with our new plan to take effect from 1 July for the 
period 2010–2013.

In 2009/10 State Trustees rebranded to reflect our future direction.  
Along with our new brand you will also see our refreshed core purpose and 
vision on page 6 along with our new company values which more strongly 
underpin our brand position and strategic goals. They guide everything we 
do in working to deliver the best service to our clients with empathy and 
understanding, and with their interests at heart.

Our Products  
& Services

• Will Preparation

• Executor Services

• Personal Financial 
Administration

• Trusts

• Charitable Trusts

• Financial Planning

• Taxation Services

• My InheritanceTM

• Genealogical Services

• Investment Services

• Funeral Funds

• Enduring Power  
of Attorney
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Chair’s Report
In my second year as the Chair of State Trustees, I’m continually delighted  
to see that the strength of this organisation is our people. While much of what 
we do is involved in managing money, our business is not about money. It’s 
about having the best people with the right training to look after our clients  
and their needs.

This year has been a momentous one in the history of State Trustees with some 
major changes marking the beginning of a different era. For both our people 
and our clients it signifies a new way forward.

Moving closer to our clients
After much work, analysis and evaluation, our STL2020 strategy to decentralise 
our service delivery model and upgrade our head office accommodation was 
signed off. To reflect this, the first plank of our strategy to move closer to our 
clients was implemented with the opening of our Southern Service Centre in 
Dandenong in April 2010.

This has delivered great outcomes to our employees, many of whom are already 
realising the benefits of spending less time travelling to and from work, and 
enjoying a better work/life balance. For our clients living in the south eastern 
suburbs of Melbourne, it makes us more accessible with services available closer 
to their home. Already we’re hearing positive feedback that clients are finding it 
easier to access our services.

A new regional presence
In a further exciting step in the delivery of our STL2020 strategy, in early July 
2010, State Trustees announced we will establish a regional office in Bendigo. 
This represents our first major entry into regional Victoria and provides further 
opportunity for clients to access our range of financial and legal services. It  
also supports the Victorian government’s regional blueprint to grow Victoria’s 
regions and drive their future prosperity.

Relocating Head Office
Further decisions taken during the last 12 months will come to fruition over the 
next three years – most notably, the relocation of State Trustees’ Head Office 
from 168 Exhibition Street to a new purpose built headquarters.

The Board has been conscious for some time that the facilities at Exhibition 
Street no longer meet the current needs of our employees and our clients. This 
has become even more apparent since the opening of Dandenong which is more 
modern, up-to-date and has all the facilities that allow us to do business at an 
optimal level.

These decisions and achievements represent one of the biggest developments 
in our 70 year history – and it’s great that our organisation is taking such a bold 
leap forward.

The Board recognises the work of many people across the organisation to 
deliver these changes and thanks them for their extraordinary efforts.

‘With the launch  
of our new brand 
coinciding with  
the beginning of  
our decentralisation, 
2010 truly signifies 
the start of a fresh 
new era for  
State Trustees.’
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A new brand, a new era
The second exciting change this year has been the rebranding of  
State Trustees.

Our brand is so much more than a logo. It’s the way our people bring it 
to life in every client interaction that is so critical. The rebrand project 
team focused heavily on the employee launch component of the program 
– to ensure all employees understood what it meant for them, in the way 
they do their jobs, and in the way they provide services to their clients. 
Our employees have embraced the new brand with great enthusiasm.

It has been very pleasing to see that the new brand, which is much more 
modern and meaningful, is resonating well with employees and clients.

Our challenge moving forward into the future is to ensure that our brand 
promise continues to be reinforced every day and in every interaction, 
and grows in the minds and actions of all our employees. When ‘your 
interests at heart’ is embodied in everything we do, we will have seen 
the real success of our rebranding strategy.

With the launch of our new brand coinciding with the beginning of our 
decentralisation, 2010 truly signifies the start of a fresh new era for 
State Trustees.

Board changes
2009/10 was a year of change for the State Trustees Board as well. John 
Price retired after almost five years as a Director and we thank him for 
his valuable input over that time. As a former partner in Maurice Blackburn 
Lawyers, John brought extensive legal expertise, and also shared with us 
his important insights and experience regarding expansion into suburban 
Melbourne and regional Victoria.

Linda Berry who completed two terms as a Board member, will also be 
missed. As a commercial lawyer and partner in Minter Ellison, Linda also 
brought a strong depth of knowledge and extensive legal expertise.  
We thank Linda for her contribution.

Our goal at State Trustees is to have a skills-based Board. When 
appointing new directors, we look for a range of technical skills and 
experience that support the priorities of the business.

I am pleased to welcome two new Board members, Bobby Guttmann  
and Josh Bornstein following their appointment at the June 2010 Board 
meeting.

Josh brings extensive experience in law which is integral to the work  
of State Trustees. Bobby’s background in technology is particularly 
important in light of the major technological requirements of our 
business as we continue to move to a decentralised service model.

Both appointments are effective from 1 July 2010. 

Another notable change to our Board over the last 12 months  
has been the introduction of a more comprehensive Board assessment 
mechanism. A ‘Board Effectiveness Questionnaire’ was completed by 
senior management, as well as an audit of the Board’s practices against 
the Good Practice Guide for Government Public Service entities, and the 
ASX Good Governance principles. Feedback from these assessments told 
us that there was an opportunity to strengthen employees’ understanding 
of the role of the Board at an organisation like State Trustees. 

The Board is working closely with State 
Trustees’ management to achieve this. As  
an example, our strategy workshop held in 
February was run with a more collaborative 
approach this year that included group work 
sessions between the Board and senior 
management.

Other improvements include a stronger  
focus on an integrated, enterprise risk 
management solution; improvements in 
Board and senior management training 
through tailored professional development; 
and better alignment of the Board and 
Committees through the definition of 
committee roles.

The Board is committed to very strong 
governance and risk frameworks which will 
keep our organisation strong, ensuring our 
good reputation in the community continues.

Financial Position
It’s been a tough and challenging year with 
our results under threat due to the ongoing 
effects of the Global Financial Crisis. State 
Trustees has emerged as well positioned as 
any financial services organisation.

The before tax profit of $677,000 against  
a forecast of $653,000 was particularly 
pleasing.

I would like to thank everyone for their 
commitment in a year that has produced  
not only sound financial results but has also 
seen important strategic decisions taken  
and implemented. I look forward to the 
2010/2011 year as we embark on an exciting 
journey and pursue a very clear direction 
forward.

Julie Elliott 
Chair

333
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Managing Director’s Report
We started the financial year with our 70th birthday celebrations. As an 
organisation, we were proud to reach such a significant milestone of services 
and support to the Victorian community.

Most Australian companies witnessed an emergence from the Global 
Financial Crisis (GFC) and a return to a more positive environment in 2009/10. 
For State Trustees, our robust financial position meant we were able to 
absorb the impact of the GFC, while in the post-GFC environment, it has also 
meant a return to buoyant results across the key metrics of the business.

State Trustees’ profit before tax for the year ended 30 June 2010 is $677,000, 
which is $24,000 (or 3.7%) above budget. Total revenue (including returns  
on corporate investments) grew by 5.4% over the year. Expenses were 
well-managed with many strategic initiatives implemented and actioned.

This is a credit to everyone in the company and testimony to the combined 
hard work and focus across all business units.

Focusing on the Business
The financial year 2009/10 has also been a year of re-engineering our 
business. During the year we successfully executed a major restructure to 
ensure alignment of resources and corporate focus to our refreshed strategic 
themes, particularly growth and financial sustainability.

It will also support delivery of our new brand promise ‘your interests at heart’. 
As this brand promise, along with our new corporate values, drives everything 
we do, it is critical that our corporate structure supports working together 
effectively so that our clients’ interests are at the core of our business 
operations.

Our team did a fantastic job in rolling out State Trustees’ new brand to all our 
employees internally and this provided an excellent platform for the public 
launch. The enthusiasm with which the new brand was received by the whole 
State Trustees team was extremely pleasing, and it is gratifying to witness 
our employees embracing its story, messages and values.

Following on from the strategic review of our business undertaken by the 
Allen Consulting Group on behalf of the Treasurer of Victoria in 2008, the 
Treasurer directed the Essential Services Commission (ESC) to undertake  
a review of the cost basis for providing statutory services through the 
Community Services Agreement (CSA). Benefits are likely to flow to our 
business as a result of recommendations from the Essential Services 
Commission, and a successful CSA negotiation with the Department of 
Human Services in 2011.

State Trustees has also actively contributed to a number of reviews this 
financial year, including the Federal Regulation of Trustee Companies, the 
Guardianship Laws Review, the National Disability Insurance Scheme, and 
Parliamentary Committee on Powers of Attorney. Our involvement in these 
reviews will continue into the next financial year and we expect positive 
outcomes as a result.

‘I’m particularly 
pleased with the 
increasing level of 
work our team at 
State Trustees  
has been doing in  
the community, 
advocating for  
our clients on issues 
that affect them  
and working with 
various stakeholders 
to achieve positive 
outcomes.’
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State Trustees Supporting the Victorian Community
I’m particularly pleased with the increasing level of work our team at 
State Trustees has been doing in the community, advocating for our 
clients on issues that affect them and working with various stakeholders 
to achieve positive outcomes.

We are now in the third phase of research regarding Financial Elder 
Abuse, which Monash University was commissioned to undertake  
on our behalf. We eagerly await the findings, which we will share with 
government and other stakeholders later in 2010. We were very pleased 
with the extensive media coverage attracted by our latest findings,  
and the level of interest from stakeholders and other community 
representatives. Awareness is the key to reducing the incidence of  
this problem in our society.

In August 2009 we were very excited when our Intensive Needs Team 
was recognised with a Melbourne Award by the Melbourne City Council 
for their work with people in crisis. Our dedicated team are highly 
deserving of this honour as their work provides a valuable support to 
these members of the community in their time of need.

State Trustees has also seen continued success with our annual 
connected™ exhibition and art prize for Victorians with a disability  
or experience of mental illness. Our 2009 event saw more than 2,000 
people visit the exhibition.

Again, in June 2010, our Charity Ball was held with a fantastic result, 
raising almost $70,000 for our charity partner Alzheimer’s Australia Vic. 
Funds raised will support Alzheimer’s Australia Vic’s Volunteers Training 
Program. Volunteers assist with a range of tasks including acting as 
trained advisors on the National Dementia Helpline. The Helpline is 
often the first point of contact for people who are concerned about  
their memory or are newly diagnosed and learning to live with dementia.

Everyone at State Trustees is very proud of the success of the event,  
and that we have been able to contribute to such an important and vital 
program. I would like to acknowledge the support of our sponsors and 
supporters who all helped to ensure this terrific outcome.

Looking forward
Finally, as we look towards 2010/2011, we 
have the first steps in our STL2020 program 
well in place. STL2020 will see State Trustees 
move closer to our clients, not just physically 
with our suburban and regional offices, but 
also in how we work and the services we 
provide to our clients and stakeholders. As  
an organisation we are particularly excited 
about the opportunities this strategy brings 
us, and the services we can provide to 
Victorians from our new locations.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude  
to the Board for their support in achieving  
the significant milestones of 2009/10. Once 
again, I’d also like to thank and acknowledge 
all State Trustees employees for their hard 
work and ongoing commitment through a 
period of considerable change. I look forward 
to a challenging and exciting year ahead.

Anthony (Tony) G Fitzgerald 
Managing Director



Our Purpose,  
Vision & Values

Our Purpose

To help Victorians with their financial needs so 
they can make the most of their opportunities

Our Vision

To be relevant, accessible and valued in the  
hearts and minds of Victorians

Our Values

• Wholehearted > Committed, caring and united
Acting as one business with a clear purpose, ensuring our clients’  
interests and those of the broader Victorian community are at the  
heart of everything we do.

• Understanding > Empathetic and compassionate
Understanding client needs and demonstrating this by delivering  
empathy and compassion into every relationship.

• Commercial > Professional, expert and client driven
Recognising that we operate in a commercial world. Being client focused, 
delivering expert and professional advice in all areas of the business,  
ensuring sustainable profitability and growth.

• Integrity > Ethical and trusted
Always applying an ethical approach and creating relationships  
with all clients, colleagues and stakeholders built on trust  
and honesty.

66
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Our Corporate Leadership Team

 Tony Fitzgerald BBus CPA MAICD 1  Managing Director
  Joined State Trustees: June 2002

 Prue Willsford LLB 2  General Manager, Corporate Operations
  Joined State Trustees: February 2003

 Ross McDonald BEc ICA 3  General Manager, Client Services
  Joined State Trustees: March 2001

 John Brennan MBus MAICD CAHRI 4  General Manager, Strategy & Network Development
   Joined State Trustees: May 2005

 Andrew Lloyde 5  General Manager, Client Operations
  Joined State Trustees: June 2003

 Angela Burton Adv Dip.Acc 6  General Manager, Personal Financial Solutions
  Joined State Trustees: July 2003

 Doug Sumner BA MAICD Grad Dip Bus Admin 7  General Manager, Sales & Marketing
  Joined State Trustees: October 2007

 Andrew Schuette BA (CJA) BBSc (Hons) 8  General Manager, People & Culture
   Joined State Trustees: February 2003

1 23

4

5 6 78



Our Performance
In 2005, State Trustees undertook a major strategic review 
resulting in the creation of the Strategic Plan 2006–2011.

This Plan identified five key result areas upon which the 
organisation would focus in order to achieve its business 
goals. These are:

• Products and Services

• People

• Stakeholder Relationships

• Operational Excellence

• Infrastructure

In addition to the five year plan, each year a Corporate Plan  
is developed which sets annual performance objectives and 
targets to address the strategic priorities outlined in the 
Strategic Plan 2006–2011. The Corporate Plan is submitted  
to the Department of Treasury and Finance for review and 
feedback.

The achievements showcased in this Annual Report reflect 
our priorities outlined in the 2009/2010 Corporate Plan as 
well as our focus towards the future.

This past year has seen plans initiated for a significant change 
program in the form of STL2020. STL2020 is designed to help 
ensure State Trustees is agile enough to meet the changing 
needs of our clients, and continues to enhance our ability  
‘to be relevant, accessible and valued in the hearts and minds 
of Victorians’. As such, we reviewed the five year strategy  
to align with STL2020 and incorporate our vision for a 
decentralised business model, and to be more responsive  
to our clients’ needs.

The result of the strategy review was a refocused three year 
Corporate Strategy that recognises our dynamic operating 
environment.

The 2010–2013 Corporate Strategy is an evolution of our 
previous strategy with each of our key result areas combined 
to form the building blocks for the future.

The five key result areas that have emerged as our areas of 
focus for the next three years are:

• Growth – this is at the centre and the focus is on 
achieving growth in our core and client generation 
businesses

• Client and Community Engagement – to deliver on  
our brand promise of ‘your interests at heart’ and maximise 
our connections to the Victorian community

• Financial Sustainability – to ensure our business 
fundamentals are sound by providing efficient and effective 
services allowing us the capacity to grow

• People – to create and sustain a workplace that supports 
our corporate strategy

• Service Excellence – to provide excellent client service 
that enhances our client relationships and reputation, and 
supports the growth of our business

Strategic Overview
At State Trustees, we have a comprehensive 
performance measurement and reporting framework 
that encompasses strategic and business performance. 
We measure and monitor our performance in a number 
of ways, including:

1 our financial performance
2 feedback from our clients as measured  

by the Client Value Index
3 feedback from our employees as measured  

by the level of employee engagement
4 achievements against our five strategic  

key result areas

1 Financial Performance  
– Revenue and Profit

Revenue

$0,000

$10,000,000

$20,000,000

$30,000,000

$40,000,000

$50,000,000

$60,000,000

 2007/2008 2008/2009 2009/2010

Our revenue is derived from the fees we charge for our products  
and services and government contracts. A large portion of our 
revenue comes from capital and income commission. As such the 
impact of changing asset values, including property, equity markets 
and interest rates flow through to our financial performance.

Profit
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 Profit after tax  Earnings before corporate 
investments, strategic items & tax

From an after tax profit of $3,113,000 in 2007/2008, we 
experienced a fall in profit in 2008/2009 as a result of the global 
financial crisis with a negative return on our investment portfolio.  
In 2009/2010 our earnings before corporate investments, strategic 
items and tax remained stable with some major strategic investment 
during the year. This included the launch of our new brand and the 
opening of our new office in Dandenong.

8
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2 Client Feedback
Client Value Index
Retail Services Clients
Since 2007, State Trustees has been gathering feedback from clients each 
year to help us understand the aspects of service that clients most value, 
and to determine how we deliver against those expectations. This survey  
is called the Client Value Index (CVI) as it reflects the value State Trustees 
provides to our clients, rather than the value the client provides the 
organisation. The CVI is a composite index that reflects: 1) our clients’ 
preference for State Trustees over competitors; 2) their willingness to buy 
more of our services; and 3) their willingness to recommend us to others.

From 840 clients surveyed, the overall CVI score for 2009/10 was 68% 
(compared with 71% in 2008/09 and 62% in 2007/08). Our areas of 
strongest performance were Wills, Financial Attorneyship Services,  
Financial Planning and Tax – each achieving a score of over 80%.

We are also pleased to report that over 75% of our retail services clients 
would recommend State Trustees to others.

Personal Financial Administration Clients
For clients whose financial and legal affairs we administer under a VCAT 
order, the CVI reflects: 1) the perception that State Trustees is acting in the 
client’s best interests; and 2) their willingness to recommend State Trustees 
to others.

Feedback is also gathered from each client’s support network (for example, 
family members, case managers and social workers). The 2010 score for 
these clients was 82%, which represents a 4% increase on last year.

Client Concerns
State Trustees provides clients ready access to a robust and efficient process 
to raise and resolve any concerns or queries regarding service. Clients can 
contact our Client Concerns Manager by phone, online or in writing. Every 
query is thoroughly investigated to an agreed timeframe and appropriate 
action is taken to resolve the problem. Broader analysis is also undertaken 
to identify opportunities for improvement in our processes. We also engage 
with the Office of the Ombudsman of Victoria in resolving client queries 
where required.

3 Employee Engagement
Our annual employee survey continued the tradition of strong results this 
year with a participation rate of 78% and an overall satisfaction score of 
73%. Highlights of the survey included:

• 94% of respondents reported that they were proud of the work that  
State Trustees does

• 95% reported feeling a personal association with, and commitment to,  
our organisational values

• 87% reported high levels of team work and collaboration within  
teams and across the organisation

4 Achievements against Key Result Areas
Following is a snapshot of some of our performance highlights against the 
five strategic key performance indicators for 2009/10.

Our areas of strongest 
performance were in 
our Wills, Financial 
Attorneyship Services, 
Financial Planning  
and Tax areas – each 
achieving a score of 
over 80%.

Over 75% of our retail 
services clients would 
recommend State 
Trustees to others.
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Performance Highlights: Snapshot 2009/10
Products and Services

• 2,413 Wills were written – an increase of 14% above last year

• State Trustees was nominated as sole or co-executor in 81% of Wills

• 1,836 Enduring Powers of Attorney (EPAs) were prepared – 43% more than last year

• Approximately 720 EPAs were under administration during the year – 168 new EPAs were 
activated

• 1,618 estate administrations were completed with an average of 1,300 estates under 
administration at any one time

• 988 new clients were appointed under an administration order

• Funds under management for State Trustees’ charitable trusts grew by 23.3% to $61.08 million.  
New donations and bequests to charitable trusts during the year totalled $8.96 million. Charitable 
grants to the value of $1.27 million were approved by State Trustees’ Board for distribution

• 6,500 tax returns were lodged generating revenue of $2.40 million

• Approximately 3,400 trusts were under administration at any one time during the year,  
and 269 new trusts were acquired

• State Trustees managed eight funds with total funds under management at 30 June 2010 of 
$847.42 million

• Through more active promotion of charitable trusts, 20% of new Wills written included a 
charitable intent

• My InheritanceTM   was launched, an innovative new ‘one stop shop’ solution to help beneficiaries 
make the most of their inheritance

• Our Pensions Team in Personal Financial Solutions (PFS) retrieved $779,460 of overseas pension 
entitlements for clients (whose affairs we administer), who have previously lived or worked overseas

People
• Very low employee turnover of only 8.9%, and 45% of vacancies filled through internal promotion

• Strong results achieved in our employee survey with 78% of employees participating and an  
overall satisfaction score of 73%

• 94% of employees reported that they were proud of the work that State Trustees does and  
95% reported feeling a personal association with, and commitment to our organisational values

• Our Health and Well-being program was enhanced to include financial well-being and  
community involvement

• 56 employees relocated to our new Dandenong Southern Service Centre, giving them improved 
work–life balance through reduced commuting time

Stakeholder Relations
• 446 people attended the State Trustees Charity Ball 2010 in June 2010 to raise funds for 

Alzheimer’s Australia Victoria with $68,500 raised

• connectedTM art exhibition was held in August 2009, enabling people with a disability or experience 
of mental illness to showcase their artworks to the general public. There were more than 700 
entries, with 160 selected for display at the exhibition, and more than 2,000 visitors

• We continued to raise awareness about the issue of financial elder abuse through distribution  
of findings from the second phase of State Trustees-commissioned research conducted by Monash 
University, as well as a range of other educational initiatives

• Active involvement in a range of initiatives to help the homeless in the Melbourne CBD by our 
employees in the Intensive Needs Team
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• Recognition through the Melbourne Awards, of the valuable work of our Intensive Needs Team 
for the work they do with people in crisis

• $40,000 in community grants distributed to nine Victorian not-for-profit organisations

• Launch of a series of educational seminars to health professionals and community workers 
across Victoria

• The introduction of a refreshed workplace giving program, ‘Wholehearted Giving’ with 69% of 
State Trustees employees participating

• Participation in a number of submissions and legislative reviews to influence laws that affect 
our clients such as Parliamentary Enquiry into Powers of Attorney, Guardianship Laws Review and 
Federal Regulation of Trustee Companies

Operational Excellence
• Our customer contact centre, which handles all incoming phone calls from clients whose affairs 

we administer, received an average of 1,065 calls per day – 98% of these calls were answered 
within the Community Services Agreement standard of three minutes and 92% of enquiries were 
resolved at the first point of contact

• Approximately 25,000 payments were made per month for approved client expenses such  
as accommodation, utility accounts, medical payments and chemist accounts

• An increase in attendance by our Personal Financial Consultants at VCAT hearings, and more 
comprehensive reports, has resulted in increased re-appointments of State Trustees as the 
administrator for our clients

• A process  re-engineering project in Trustee Services delivered improvements in operational 
processes, data integrity and client communications

• The first phase in developing a new and improved system of managing State Trustees’ 
documents and records was completed

• Work commenced on the introduction of a Business Process Management methodology which 
will come to fruition in 2010/11

• State Trustees’ new and enhanced Will writing technology, Chameleon, delivered greater 
operational capabilities and a more comprehensive level of service to our clients

• A major redesign and redevelopment of the State Trustees website resulted in enhanced 
functionality, and a more user-friendly and informative site

• More efficient estate administration through the improved allocation of work across consultant 
caseloads. This has resulted in a reduction in the total number of files under administration at 
any one time

Infrastructure
• In March 2010, the new State Trustees brand was unveiled with a fresh look and feel to 

complement a renewed strategic focus for our organisation

• One of the most important change programs in State Trustees’ history, STL2020, was approved  
by the Board

• State Trustees’ first new service centre resulting from STL2020 was opened in Dandenong in  
April 2010 – our first step towards a decentralised business model

• The opening of a new regional office in Bendigo was announced – initially to operate as a small 
retail suite from the second half of 2010, it will develop into an office employing 100 people by 2013

• A tender process to secure a new site for State Trustees’ Head Office has commenced and is 
expected to be complete by October 2010

Performance Highlights: Snapshot 2009/10





that’s what  
our new brand  

is all about

your interests at heart...



Our brochures and  
website have changed
State Trustees’ suite of brochures and other communication 
materials have had an overhaul. Along with the new brand 
and logo, you will see a more contemporary style that reflects 
our aim to be recognised as a modern and professional 
organisation.

Our website has also undergone a major redevelopment  
and rebuild. Not only does it look more contemporary,  
it also has enhanced functionality, is easier to use due to 
improved navigation and is more informative. It also has 
targeted information for different audiences and custom 
based reporting functions. Future developments include 
login functionality for viewing personalised information 
online such as statements, as well as login functionality  
for business referral partners.

Our logo has changed

At the centre of our new brand identity is a fresh new  
logo. The orange, curved, enfolding shape symbolises a 
sense of security, protection and reassurance.

But even though our logo looks fresh and new, it is not a 
complete change. A subtle but important connection with 
the past is the decision to retain the orange colour used in 
our old logo. This is recognised by our clients and stake-
holders who continue to associate it with State Trustees.

The new brand is a contemporary fresh approach designed 
to bring the best parts of our past with us into the future.

Our brand promise has changed
Our brand promise is summed up in the words that appear 
below our company name: ‘your interests at heart’.

Whilst we’ve had our clients’ interests at heart for more 
than 70 years, now we have officially made it part of our 
brand. This cements our commitment to always act with 
our clients’ interests at heart, to put ourselves in our 
clients’ shoes and use our new corporate values to guide 
everything we do.

State Trustees will continue to provide astute professional 
services with the understanding and compassion, honesty 
and integrity that all Victorians deserve.

How we do things is where you 
will see the biggest change
We’re not changing what we do.  
We are still the same organisation with the same core 
purpose – we are still committed to helping Victorians with 
their financial needs so they can make the most of their 
opportunities.

It’s how we do things, that is changing.  
Our new brand signifies a shift towards working as  
one organisation, working together to ensure our clients’ 
interests are at the heart of everything we do. This is the 
guiding principle that dictates how we work together 
internally as well as how we interact with our clients  
and stakeholders. 

Our new corporate values: 

• Wholehearted

• Understanding

• Commercial

• Integrity

underpin our new brand and are fundamental to the way 
our organisation operates.
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On 29 March 2010, the new State Trustees brand was unveiled with a fresh look and feel to denote a renewed strategic 
focus for our organisation. A focus on moving closer to our clients, both in location and in our understanding of their 
needs, and on being more relevant and accessible to the Victorian community, is at the heart of the change.

Your interests at heart...

State Trustees’ redeveloped website – more contemporary,  
more informative and with enhanced functionality



Bringing our new brand to life
A key success factor of our new brand and refreshed 
strategic direction is employee engagement. That is why 
an extensive employee launch has been integral to the 
rebranding program, with a range of initiatives and 
activities undertaken to ensure that everyone in the 
company understands their role in bringing our new 
brand to life.

While our old brand served us well, it was time to 
change our look to reflect our evolution into a more 
modern, responsive and professional organisation.

The new brand is an important step in the evolution of 
State Trustees. It will help us tell our story more clearly 
and effectively, and reach and support more people.

On the following pages we showcase a range of 
initiatives and achievements that demonstrate our 
commitment to acting with our clients’ interests at 
heart.

‘I used a similar phrase to 
‘your interests at heart’ 
when talking to a client 
this morning. I really 
think this line suits us.’
Employee feedback

Launching the brand  
to employees
• Pick-a-value team activity 

– brainstorming within teams  
to identify behaviours that 
demonstrate our new values, 
and any process changes 
needed to support them

• A Brand Box for every employee 
to reinforce what the new brand 
means, including their own 
Brand book

• An Early Adopters award  
to recognise and celebrate 
individuals who become early 
adopters of the brand, values 
and positioning changes

• Appointment of Brand Leaders 
across the business to reinforce 
our brand plans with all 
employees
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through  
products & services  
to meet your needs

your interests at heart...
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Wills – how we’re reaching more Victorians

As Victoria’s largest Will writer,  
State Trustees prepared 2,413 Wills during  
the 2009/10 financial year, an increase  
of 14% above last year.

Our team comprises eight fully qualified lawyers and two 
paralegals. They have the knowledge and expertise to 
offer objective and impartial legal advice, and structure 
our clients’ Wills to best suit their individual circumstances. 
This can help avoid pitfalls and potential for family conflict 
later on.

State Trustees estimates that approximately 20% of people 
in Victoria die intestate, meaning they die without a valid 
Will. As a result, their assets are distributed according to a 
set legislative formula, which does not always reflect what 
they would have wanted.

In addition, many people write a Will but fail to update  
it as their circumstances change. For example, divorce or 
separation (their own, or someone in their family); changes 
in assets held; and the passing of beneficiaries can all 
result in assets ending up in the hands of someone who 
was not intended to benefit.

To help protect people from the consequences of failing  
to make or update a Will, State Trustees has been offering 
our service to more clients by building our presence in 
regional Victoria. With a regular travel program to major 
regional centres throughout 2009/10, State Trustees can 
now make Wills for more Victorians who would otherwise 
find it difficult to access our expert advice.

Where there’s a Will,  
there’s a (better) way
Our new and enhanced Will writing technology, 
Chameleon, has helped facilitate this greater presence  
in regional centres, as well as to serve more clients in  
the Melbourne Metropolitan area.

Twelve months since its introduction and many Wills  
later, we’re pleased to report that Chameleon has delivered 
everything it promised. In addition to helping us reach 
more clients, the benefits include:

• Increased productivity and efficiency of our Will writers, 
as evidenced by our 14% increase on last year’s volumes

• Time and cost savings for clients. In 90% of cases, 
everything can be done on the spot without the need  
for them to return for a second appointment for further 
discussion or signing

• Dual-screen capability allows clients to view details and 
options on screen as their Will is being prepared

• The ability to include a personalised and unique 
commentary for each Will created by the system

• Assisting the Will writer to identify other services which 
may be of value so they can provide a more comprehensive 
consultation. As an example, this year saw a 43% increase 
in clients preparing Financial Enduring Powers of Attorney 
(EPAs) and 20% of clients included a charitable intent in 
their Wills

• The ability to offer a more mobile service by writing 
Wills for clients in their home if they are unable to get to 
one of our offices

• It being the first interactive intelligent product of its  
kind to allow such a complex range of options to be 
automated, without the need for hand drafting specific 
legal clauses. This can be time-consuming and 
expensive for clients

• Increased Will checking productivity, freeing up staff to 
write more Wills, or to visit clients in regional areas or in 
their homes

• Production of a more comprehensive Will which assists 
the executor when it comes time to administer the estate

The generic software used to build Chameleon has  
been licensed in a number of countries around the world. 
However, the specifications that State Trustees has had 
purpose-built into this software have resulted in 
Chameleon becoming a leading edge tool.

Priam Nandan, State Trustees lawyer (pictured left), says 
that many of her clients have been thrilled to receive their 
documents completed at the time of their appointment. 
They have also complimented the dual screen system 
which enables them to be more involved in the process.
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Estates and Trusts – how we’ve assisted 
clients affected by bushfires
Continuing support  
of bushfire victims
Few will easily forget the tragedy of Black Saturday, the 
February 2009 bushfires that devastated the lives of so 
many Victorians.

State Trustees is proud to have lent a hand as part of the 
government’s bushfire assistance, by offering our specialist 
services at reduced or no cost. As families still struggle to 
pick up the pieces and move their lives forward, our work 
continues.

Help for the survivors…
State Trustees has been working closely with representatives 
of the Victorian Bushfire Appeal Fund and the Department 
of Human Services to allocate some of the donated funds 
to set up personal trusts for bereaved children who were 
orphaned or lost a parent as a result of the fires.

The Red Cross Victorian Bushfire Appeal, 
launched in partnership with the Victorian 
and Australian Governments, received $379 
million in donations, the largest single 
charitable appeal in Australia’s history.

Approximately $2.5 million was allocated to State Trustees 
to manage on trust for 22 children. The trust funds are 
intended to assist in meeting each child’s long term needs 
such as education, health, living expenses and other 
personal needs.

And for the loved ones left behind…
State Trustees also offered assistance in administering  
the estates of those people lost in the fires.

For the families of the deceased, our support has helped 
ease the burden, especially where the estate proved to be 
very complex. Some estates have involved many months 
of effort, arbitration, negotiation and investigation – all 
performed by State Trustees at no cost.

This has saved the families money and the stress of trying 
to deal with issues that require specialist training and 
years of experience. Some of the factors that have 
contributed to the complexity of the estates have been:

• No Will – either a Will was never written or it had  
been kept in the home and was destroyed in the fire

• Difficulty piecing together the deceased’s full financial 
position due to paperwork being lost in the fires

• Determining the relationship status of the deceased –  
for example, where someone disputes the status or 
longevity of a new partner’s relationship with the 
deceased. Different parties may then lay claim to an 
estate

• Proving the order in which victims of the fire died. This  
is critical when more than one family member has died 
as it impacts who the beneficiaries will be and how the 
estate is divided. It can prove problematic for families 
where there has been a separation. For example, it could 
make the difference between assets passing to the 
control of a man’s ex-wife (as the guardian of his 
children) or to his new partner

Our employees have worked tirelessly to support the loved 
ones left behind, keeping in regular contact and going out 
to visit them.

‘It’s been a lot of work, it’s  
taken a lot of time and it’s  
been complicated. But that’s 
nothing compared to the  
horrific experience this has  
been for the whole family. I  
just want to do anything I can  
to make it easier for them.’
Rebeka, Senior Estate Representative
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Personal Financial Solutions (PFS) –
providing Administrative Services under 
VCAT orders
Our Personal Financial Solutions division manages and protects the financial and legal interests of Victorians 
who are unable to manage their own affairs due to disability, mental illness, injury or other circumstances.  
For these clients State Trustees has been appointed to act as their administrator by the Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) under protective Administration Orders.

The State Government has an obligation to ensure that these services will be provided to all vulnerable 
Victorians that need them, irrespective of whether or not they can afford to pay. State Trustees is now into the 
third year of a five year contract with the Minister for Community Services to provide these financial services 
to vulnerable Victorians who need them. The contract, known as the Community Services Agreement, sets 
out obligations and standards that must be met by State Trustees. It also allows for the State to partially fund 
services where clients are unable to meet the costs themselves.

Across our organisation there are many ways in which we assist these clients every day.

When it all becomes too taxing
Many people are not aware that State Trustees is one of Victoria’s biggest tax agents. In 2009/10, we lodged 
more than 6,500 income taxation returns with the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Whether it’s personal income tax, business tax, GST, capital gains tax, superannuation or termination 
payments, our experts have the experience to maximise our clients’ returns. We also provide advice on estate 
planning and tax effective structures, and can assist with disputes with the Australian Tax Office.

While we offer these services to private individuals, much of the work that our taxation specialists perform is 
to support other parts of our business – for example, for our clients whose affairs we administer, or looking 
after the tax requirements for a deceased estate. Whatever the purpose, our experts make every effort to 
optimise the result for our client.

Case Study
How State Trustees helped  
in a taxing situation

Shortly after State Trustees was appointed by VCAT to 
administer the financial affairs of Barbara, it was discovered 
that she had not completed any tax returns since 2000. Nor 
had she completed any Business Activity Statements (BASs) 
for the business she operated. With a mental illness that 
was increasingly impacting Barbara’s life, State Trustees 
gathered information from family members and third 
parties to painstakingly piece together details of income 
and deductions. When all outstanding tax returns and BASs 
were completed and lodged with the Australian Taxation 
Office (ATO), penalty interest of $86,018 was imposed due 
to late lodgement. Our team put forward a case to the ATO 
seeking a reduction to the charge due to our client’s difficult 
circumstances. This was successful and the ATO agreed to 
waive the penalty in full.
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Maximising overseas pension entitlements
In 2009/10, State Trustees helped retrieve $779,460 of overseas pension 
entitlements for clients whose affairs we administer who have lived or 
worked in other countries at some time in their lives. These countries 
include Germany, Italy, Malta, Croatia, Slovenia, Austria, Holland, Greece, 
the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

There are a number of reasons why these entitlements may have been 
missed or left behind. For example, clients may have gone into care and 
their pension has lapsed or in some instances, they have lost capacity and 
can’t remember where they have worked. In cases where the client does not 
have any documentation it’s very difficult to prove their working histories.

State Trustees has a wealth of experience and networks to help track or 
request documents from Australia and overseas. Our consultants work 
closely with family and friends of our clients to piece together their history 
when the clients themselves are unable to provide details. Our consultants 
also have expertise in dealing with overseas agencies and the skills to 
pursue the overseas pension entitlements on behalf of our clients. This  
can be a complicated and lengthy process involving a number of legal 
requirements specific to each country.

The effort is richly rewarded as these pension entitlements can make a 
major difference in the quality of life for elderly people, providing extra 
funds each month to meet their expenses. In some cases, clients have 
received windfalls they didn’t even know they were eligible for.

Following a reciprocal agreement with Greece, our consultants have 
identified approximately 30 clients who may be eligible to receive an 
entitlement. Claims have been lodged, and we now eagerly await the 
outcome of the applications. We have also recently made new contacts 
with Hungary and claims are now being assessed for our clients with a 
Hungarian background.

‘We located an Italian 
bank account with 
the equivalent of 
AU$52,000 for one  
of our clients. For 
another client, we 
worked with French 
agencies to secure a 
French pension of 
$1,000 per month. 
It’s great to be able 
to make such a 
difference.’
Kris, Pension Consultant



A Testator Family Maintenance (TFM) Claim is a legal claim  
made by a person in order to seek a share (or a greater 
share) of a deceased estate.

The claimant has six months from the date probate is 
granted to show that the deceased had a responsibility to 
make provision for the claimant but failed to do so. For  
this reason the estate is usually not distributed until six 
months has passed, allowing time for anyone wishing to 
make a claim to do so.

In 1996, Victoria’s laws changed to allow a wider group  
of people to make a claim against an estate. Previously 
only family members could claim an entitlement, but now 
anyone who believes the deceased owed them a share  
of their estate can make a claim. For example a neighbour 
or friend, who has at some time in their life helped the 
deceased, could claim that the deceased owed them 
something in return. Or, someone who had been helped  
by the deceased may claim they were dependent on  
them and should have been provided for in their Will.

With the growing incidence of divorce, remarriage and 
blended families, family structures are becoming more 
complex, resulting in a growing number of claims by  
people indirectly related to the deceased.

Since the change in legislation, the number of claims  
made each year has been steadily rising.

At State Trustees we act as executor in many estates 
which involve TFM claims.

In the past 12 months alone the number 
of our estates involving a TFM claim has 
risen by 63%.

State Trustees’ dual role: Helping 
to protect against TFM claims...  
...and making the claims to 
protect the vulnerable

Helping to protect against 
unreasonable claims...
State Trustees has several important roles across the 
business with regard to TFM claims.

When preparing Wills, our lawyers and paralegals inform 
clients about the need to adequately provide for anyone in 
their Will who is dependent on them, as well as educating 
them on the risks of TFM claims. Many people are unaware 
of the impacts of separation, divorce, remarriage and new 
relationships, as well as a ‘falling out’ or disagreement. 
State Trustees’ Will writers encourage clients to identify 
anyone who they think may claim they deserved a share  
of the estate – and if the client is not leaving a share to 
that person (for justified reasons) to clearly document the 
reasons they were excluded. This may assist if a TFM claim 
is made after they have passed away.

Our Executor Services teams administer many estates 
against which claims have been made. Here, as Executor, it 
is our role to protect the wishes of the deceased and ensure 
their assets are distributed to those who were intended to 
benefit from the estate. Over 70 years’ experience in estate 
administration, combined with in-house legal and financial 
expertise, enables us to strongly defend the estate on 
behalf of our clients.
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TFM Claims on the rise

Case Study
Mary never married and had no children. Her closest relatives were three sisters  
and one brother. Family conflict had led Mary’s brother and eldest sister to become 
estranged from the other sisters.

Mary had appointed her youngest sister, Janet, as the executor in her Will. Mary believed Janet was the best choice as she  
was good with finances and the one most likely to survive her due to her age. When Mary died at the age of 53, leaving 
quite a valuable estate, Janet correctly anticipated that conflict could cause problems for her in her role as executor. She 
decided to authorise State Trustees to act as executor and relieve her of the burden, responsibility and potential liability.  
As expected, the older siblings did launch a TFM claim against the estate citing that they had had a closer relationship  
with Mary and that the other siblings had been the cause of disharmony in the family. With State Trustees as executor,  
the estate was managed independently and impartially, with no favour shown to any sibling over another. The TFM claim 
was unsuccessful and each sibling inherited an equal share of the estate – exactly as Mary had intended.
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Making TFM claims to protect 
the vulnerable
As well as acting to defend estates from TFM claims,  
State Trustees, in our role of Attorney or Administrator for 
people who are unable to manage their own financial and 
legal affairs, uses its combination of skills and experience 
to make a claim against an estate when needed. Our clients 
are sometimes financially disadvantaged when someone 
they were dependent on failed to provide for them in their 
Will when they had a duty of care to do so. In this instance, 
State Trustees will make a claim against the estate for a 
fairer provision.

For example, when a parent leaves an equal share to each 
of their children, but one child (our client) has a mental or 
physical disability and depends on a greater share. For 
example, to meet additional costs of medical treatment,  
to compensate them for an inability to be employed like 
their siblings, or to pay for accommodation – especially if 
they had been living at home and the family home has to 
be sold so that its proceeds can be shared between 
beneficiaries.

This commonly occurs when a parent did not have a Will 
at all and the laws of intestacy stipulate that all children 
receive an equal share.

Each year the Client Legal Team within State Trustees acts 
to ensure that affected clients whose affairs we administer 
are financially protected in situations where those who had 
a responsibility to provide for them, do not make a Will or 
do not provide adequate provision for them in their Wills.

In 2009/10, State Trustees made 
successful claims for 29 clients with 
benefits totalling more than $2.6 million.

From nothing to $600,000
Lucy suffers from schizophrenia and her affairs have been managed by State Trustees 
under an Administration Order for the last ten years. When Lucy’s mother passed away 
she had left nothing in her Will for Lucy.

Knowing that Lucy was unable to manage money properly her mother feared it would be wasted. Instead she left everything 
to Lucy’s older brother and younger sister, trusting that they would look after Lucy financially as needed, and comfortable 
in the knowledge that Lucy was being looked after by the State. Her mother was unaware that there were other options 
such as trusts which allow controls to be put in place over expenditure of funds for vulnerable beneficiaries like Lucy.

State Trustees initiated a Testator Family Maintenance claim on her behalf. After negotiations with her siblings a settlement 
was reached and $600,000 was awarded to Lucy. Arrangements were made for the funds to be managed, in trust, for 
Lucy’s needs during the remainder of her lifetime. This will allow her to enjoy a better standard of living with certainty that 
the money will be used for her benefit.





through the  
great people  

we employ

your interests at heart...



Our People

Our employees are happy
Our annual employee survey continued the tradition of strong results 
this year achieving an overall satisfaction score of 73%. Highlights of  
the survey included:

• 94% of respondents reporting that they were proud of the work  
that State Trustees does

• 95% reporting a feeling of personal association with, and 
commitment to our organisational values

• 87% reporting high levels of team work and collaboration  
within teams and across the organisation

Attracting and retaining employees
The combination of a relatively stable economic environment  
post-GFC and strong employee engagement rates saw State Trustees’ 
employee turnover reduced to a low of 8.9%.

During the past 12 months we welcomed 78 new employees, taking our 
total headcount to 560. 

By managing our resources effectively and deferring non-essential 
recruitment activity, we are proud to have avoided the need to reduce 
our workforce during challenging economic conditions – thereby giving 
our employees greater confidence, job stability and career progression 
opportunities. 45% of vacancies were filled through internal promotion.
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‘We are committed to 
making people’s lives 
better and because 
we focus on this goal, 
it is a job I can be 
proud of.’

‘I feel aligned with  
the company’s strong 
sense of values – both 
at a corporate level, 
and with the way 
people go about their 
day to day work.’

‘As a team we  
pride ourselves on 
being the best at 
what we do. We have 
a strong sense of 
teamwork and are  
all very supportive  
of each other and 
acknowledge  
each other’s 
achievements.’

Employee feedback
(Source: 2009 Annual Employee Survey)



27

Some of the programs that make us  
a great employer
Job satisfaction, and the health and well-being of our people are very 
important to us at State Trustees. To assist in retaining our talented 
employees, the following programs continued through 2009/10:

• Embracing Flexibility @ Work – a program offering flexible work options 
to employees wishing to study, semi-retire or balance parenting and 
work. It includes more flexible hours, a scheme for purchasing additional 
annual leave, a Working Parents Toolkit and ‘Keep in Touch’ program 
for parents on or returning from parental leave

• Reward programs that recognise excellent performance and  
customer service

• A workplace giving program refocused, in conjunction with the launch 
of our new brand positioning, to allow employees to donate to their 
favourite cause. Read more about ‘Wholehearted Giving’ on page 44

• Health and well-being program that offers a holistic approach to 
improve employees’ social, physical and emotional well-being. 
Initiatives include:

• Annual health checks and influenza vaccinations

• Discounted gym memberships, yoga and pilates

• Walking and running groups during lunchtime and after work

• Access to psychological support on a range of personal  
and work related issues

• A subsidised school holiday program for working parents

• An active social club with a range of fun activities throughout  
the year

 The program has been enhanced in the last 12 months to help 
employees get involved in supporting the community, as well as 
providing discounts on a range of financial products and services.

Training to enhance our performance
Each year we evaluate the existing competencies of our employees and 
identify any additional skills and experience they need to perform their 
role at an optimum level. This enables us to identify potential development 
opportunities, to develop learning plans and provide the relevant training 
programs. The process is designed to ensure that all staff achieve 
technical excellence in the work they do.

Staff are enthusiastic about the focused training programs and eager to 
improve their skills.
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An honour for Cathy
State Trustees’ Program Manager,  
Cathy Vanderfeen, was recognised for  
her outstanding contribution to the 
Victorian Public Service this year when 
she was added to the Institute of Public 
Administration Australia’s Victorian 
Honour Roll.

The Honour Roll aims to recognise the 
diligence, enthusiasm and hard work  
of women in the public sector and is 
presented as part of the International 
Women’s Day celebrations.

Cathy was recognised for her tireless  
and consistent delivery of service to our 
clients over the 36 years she has worked 
for State Trustees.

Cathy has occupied a variety of roles  
in her lengthy tenure at State Trustees, 
including management roles in Personal 
Financial Services, Trusts, Estates, Legal 
and New Business Operations.

“I was honoured to receive the accolade.  
It is testament to the collective support I 
receive from the dedicated team I work 
with at State Trustees”, Cathy said.

Cathy Vanderfeen (right) with Prue Willsford, 
General Manager, Corporate Operations

‘The course had a good balance of team interaction versus individual 
analysis. I learned lots of new techniques that I can apply to my work.’

‘Thank you for a great course, it really helped me the next day with a 
client I was assisting. I applied what I’d learned from the course and 
found it was much easier to help him resolve the issues he was facing.’
Employee feedback (Source: 2009/10 State Trustees Training Programs)
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65%
female

35%
male

83%
full-time

17%
part-time

50%
female

50%
male

19%
45-54

27%
35-44

37%
25-34

11%
55+

6%
18-24

Amongst our employees we have people with a mix of abilities and professional backgrounds; people from different cultures 
and ethnicities; and people with a range of disabilities. We have several vision-impaired employees (including a Seeing Eye 
Dog as part of the team), hearing-impaired and physically disabled employees. Appropriate adaptations are made to the 
workplace as well as to job requirements so that employees have every opportunity to reach their full potential.

An employee snapshot
Of our 560 employees:

• 65% are women with 50% of key leadership  
roles held by women

• 17% are part-time

• 39 women were on maternity leave, with most 
indicating their intention to return to work on a 
full- or part-time basis in 2010/11. In total  
7% of the workforce took maternity leave this year

• 6% are aged 18-24 years; 37% aged 25-34 years; 
27% aged 35-44 years; 19% aged 45-54 years; 
and 11% are 55 years and over

Our recruitment practices support 
equality and fairness in the workplace 
and openly encourage people with 
diverse backgrounds. 

% of male & female employees

% of part-time & full-time employees

% of employees in leadership roles

% of employees in age ranges (years)



My Story: Joan Duncan
Joan Duncan started with State Trustees in 1989 as a relieving telephonist. A four-week assignment turned into a  
career and she is still with us 20 years later. She has had a number of roles during that time, mostly in customer service.

A nice story but what’s so special about it? The special thing about Joan Duncan is that she is legally blind as a result  
of being born prematurely in 1947.

Special equipment …
To assist in performing her role, three years ago, a voice package was attached to Joan’s computer which reads text to  
her. Joan is amazed at the difference this has made. Tasks that were once very time-consuming can now be performed  
far more quickly. Both Joan’s work satisfaction, and her performance have improved immensely. She says the support 
particularly in recent years has been great and her job is marvellous.

...and a special dog in the office
In 2002, Joan decided to get a Seeing Eye Dog for the first time in her life. 
‘Kayla’, a lovely golden retriever, was welcomed to State Trustees by Joan’s 
managers, who were very willing to accommodate the presence of a dog in 
the office. In particular, Kayla was welcomed by employees, who just loved 
having her around. And Kayla couldn’t resist the attention – or the regular 
treats. A win-win situation for all! After Kayla’s retirement in 2008, Joan’s 
new companion is a handsome Labrador named ‘Hillsy’ (right). Equally 
popular with the staff, Joan says of Hillsy: “The dog gets all the attention.  
I’m just the owner.”

No shrinking violet
On a personal level, Joan has a fantastic outlook. She says: “I’m so lucky  
that all I lost was my sight. A lot of babies would not have survived being 
born premature back then.”

Joan believes that you get back from life what you put in and she lives  
life to the fullest. She married and had two children earlier in life, she’s  
taught ballroom dancing, she is very mobile (especially with the greater 
independence that comes with a Seeing Eye Dog), and has a great group  
of friends that she treasures. A recent accomplishment in late 2008,was a 
360km bike ride across Austria to raise money and awareness of Seeing Eye 
Dogs Australia. Joan enlisted State Trustees’ support which included an 
official launch event with employees treated to visits by Seeing Eye Dog 
puppies, media in attendance, and employee donations.

A great asset for her clients
In her current role, Joan is a telephone consultant in our Personal Financial Solutions (PFS) customer contact centre.  
She assists our clients whose financial and legal affairs we manage by answering any questions they have, approving 
requests for funds and attending to other needs. Many of the clients Joan assists have a physical disability, brain injury,  
or experience of mental illness.

By having first hand experience with a disability Joan brings something unique to interactions with her callers. In her own 
experience there are occasionally people who don’t understand disabilities and speak in a demeaning or patronising way. 
But Joan believes that everyone deserves consideration and respect, not pity. Joan refuses to be a victim and treats her 
clients the same way.

Joan’s humour, wit and cheerful disposition and her compassionate but down to earth, pragmatic approach, make her 
especially popular with callers. State Trustees is proud that she is part of the team.

Hillsy

‘I’m so lucky that all  
I lost was my sight.  
A lot of babies would 
not have survived 
being born premature 
back then.’
Joan Duncan
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Improving services for the homeless
Our award-winning  
Intensive Needs Team
In 2006, State Trustees established a dedicated team  
of professionals to provide crisis intervention and support 
to the most vulnerable people of Melbourne – some of 
whom have disengaged from support services, been 
refused services from other agencies or banned from 
banking and health institutions.

Our Intensive Needs Team provides these people in crisis 
with the support to reconnect with various social agencies 
and other services, ensuring they are adequately housed 
and have the basic necessities of life.

In August 2009, the Intensive Needs Team was honoured 
through the Melbourne Awards, for contribution to the 
community by a corporation. What follows is some of the 
valuable work undertaken by the Intensive Needs Team.

Improving services for  
the homeless
Almost every day, our Intensive Needs Team talk to clients 
who are homeless – clients like Jodie. Jodie lives on the 
streets of the inner city, spending the odd night at short- 
term accommodation when it’s available. State Trustees 
administers her affairs due to her mental illness, and she 
visits our Little Bourke Street office every day to pick up her 
allowance. Our team take the opportunity to talk to her and 
to try to connect her with services for the homeless, in the 
Central Business District (CBD) such as case management, 
community nursing or accommodation.

Networking in the CBD
To keep up to date with the services that Jodie and other 
clients may need, Ray and Sarah, consultants within the 
Intensive Needs Team joined the CBD Homelessness 
Network. The CBD Network is made up of a range of 
professionals from organisations working with homeless 
people in the Melbourne CBD.

“The group gets together to talk about key issues that 
impact the homeless and see if they can help to develop 
policy to improve service delivery,” Ray explained.

Ray and Sarah have been attending meetings every six 
weeks and have learnt a lot about the other services that 
are available to help their clients.

“This has really helped us help our clients who visit our 
Little Bourke St Service Centre” Sarah said. “We have 
up-to-date information to connect them with services 
they need like accommodation support, food services or 
mental health services.

StreetCount2010
In June 2010 Ray and Sarah joined other members of  
the network to volunteer for StreetCount 2010, a research 
project run by the City of Melbourne. They visited parks 
and streets in the CBD, North and West Melbourne, Flagstaff 
and Fitzroy Gardens on the night of June 2 to count the 
number of homeless people sleeping in public places. 
Findings from StreetCount2010 assist the City of Melbourne 
to plan, develop and make decisions about appropriate 
long-term solutions to homelessness.

Supportive housing
The team is also working with HomeGround Services on 
the Elizabeth Street Common Ground Supportive Housing.

In partnership with the State and Federal Governments, 
Yarra Community Housing and Grocon, this will be the  
first development of its kind in Melbourne. The project is 
based on an internationally proven and cost-effective 
model to meet the needs of those who experience long 
term homelessness. It will provide quality housing and 
long-term support services in one place, helping people  
to reconnect with the community.

Some of our clients will be tenants and our team are 
working with HomeGround Services to ensure a smooth 
transition for them to permanent housing. Ray and Sarah 
will also participate in the first induction with the case 
managers to inform them about our role. Our aim is to 
have seamless processes for our clients and their support 
workers at Common Ground.

We look forward to building on the very positive working 
relationships developed in 2009/10 into the future.

‘This has really helped us 
assist our clients who visit our 
service centre at Little Bourke 
Street. We have up-to-date 
information to connect them 
with services they need like 
accommodation support, 
food services or mental health 
services.’
Sarah, Personal Financial Consultant
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Educating health professionals  
and community workers
During 2009/10, we partnered with the Office of the  
Public Advocate (OPA) and Victorian Civil and Administrative 
Tribunal (VCAT) to launch a series of seminars across 
Victoria, educating health professionals and community 
workers about services that can be accessed by their clients. 

The aim is to present the services from our organisations 
to front line staff so they can help their disabled clients 
who may need a substitute decision maker.

Attendees include doctors, psychologists, psychiatrists, 
mental health support workers, social workers, case 
managers and professionals from Centrelink, Transport 
Accident Commission and Department of Veteran Affairs.

According to our representative at the seminars, Kathleen 
Thomas, the feedback has been very positive.

“We kicked off the seminar series in July 2009 at St Vincent’s 
hospital with 150 professionals attending,” she said. “Since 
then, seminars have been held at Wangaratta, Wodonga, 
Wantirna, Bendigo, Ballarat, Ararat, Clayton, Shepparton, 
Warrnambool and Geelong.”

Kathleen is delighted that this program is allowing us to 
make our services more accessible to health professionals 
and their clients in Melbourne and regional Victoria.

One very relieved case manager told Kathleen “I see 
clients all the time who are losing the ability to make sound 
decisions for themselves. I was completely unaware of the 
services available to help them.”

Kathleen stresses how important it is that health 
professionals know where to refer vulnerable Victorians. 
Many are at risk of being taken advantage of financially, or 
becoming homeless because they can no longer manage 
their expenses and fail to make rent payments. The sooner 
these people are referred to the right service, the better it 
is for them.

A number of health professionals have 
contacted State Trustees as a result of the 
seminar program, and we are pleased to be 
making a difference to the quality of life 
for clients whose affairs we now administer.
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‘I see clients all the time 
who are losing the ability 
to make sound decisions 
for themselves. I was 
completely unaware of 
the services available  
to help them.’
Case Manager



Every year State Trustees discovers instances of older people being taken advantage of by those they most trust.  
Rose and Estelle’s stories (below) are just two we’ve seen this year. In recent years, we have been taking a leading role in 

raising awareness about the problem of financial elder abuse 
and highlighting ways to prevent it in the community.

Research
In 2008 we engaged Monash University to undertake 
research to shed light on this important social issue. Entitled 
‘Protecting Elders Assets Study: Ethical Management of 
Older Persons’ Financial Assets’, the project has delivered 
two reports.

The latest report attracted extensive coverage in high  
profile state, national and international media outlets. It was 
welcomed with interest by a range of stakeholders in the 
government, community and legal sectors, many of whom 
have included links on their websites. The report found that 
the majority of older people coming to the attention of 
organisations because of financial abuse are women, and  
the people most likely to be perpetrating the abuse are sons.

State Trustees has worked with numerous stakeholders on 
financial elder abuse for many years and this research has 
helped to deepen our engagement with existing stakeholders 
and build relationships with others.

The research is proving a useful contribution to the Victorian 
Government’s Elder Abuse Prevention Strategy and we hope 
that it will lay the foundation for future initiatives, including 
policy and legislative reform, and improvement to services.

Spreading the message
In addition to research, State Trustees is engaged in raising 
awareness of elder abuse through:

• distributing education material from Seniors Rights 
Victoria to interested older clients, our council partners 
and other stakeholders

• participation in an informal inter-agency working group 
convened by the Office of the Public Advocate

• speaking engagements and workshops on prevention 
strategies for professionals such as solicitors, medical 
practitioners, case managers and social workers

• participation in community and professional education 
seminars to learn more about the government’s education 
strategies and how we can assist

• participation in the government’s Elder Abuse Prevention 
Strategy Advisory Group (commencing July 2010)

We are pleased to commit our resources to help shed light  
on this increasingly ‘silent crime’ and help discover ways to 
reduce, prevent and remedy it for current and future 
generations.
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Our role in helping combat  
financial elder abuse

All her life Estelle had little knowledge of the family 
finances as her husband had managed the money. 
When he became very ill and moved to a nursing 
home, Estelle’s daughter attempted to sell the 
property Estelle jointly owned with her husband. Six 
months later, Estelle’s husband passed away and 
with her daughter as his executor, there was risk of 
further assets being hidden from Estelle. As Estelle’s 
Power of Attorney (financial and legal), State Trustees 
organised her legal representation, sat alongside 
her at mediation, organised for her accounts to be 
paid and secured her assets that were jointly owned 
with her husband. Estelle told her consultant she 
feels much more secure and finally feels a sense of 
independence for the first time in her life.

Just after the death of her husband, Rose’s son 
almost persuaded her to transfer the title of her  
$1 million farm into his name. The farm was 93-year-
old Rose’s only asset, and her son was determined 
not to let his step-sister inherit a share of it. It was 
only when State Trustees was appointed as her 
administrator that it was found that Rose had 
dementia. The court found that Rose did not have 
the mental capacity to understand the nature of the 
transaction and so we were able to secure the 
property in her name, as her husband intended.



Sharing our expertise to help improve  
the laws affecting our clients

In 2009/10, the reviews we contributed to included:

Parliamentary Inquiry  
into Powers of Attorney
State Trustees has actively contributed to the Inquiry  
of the Victorian Parliament’s Law Reform Committee  
into Powers of Attorney. We are particularly interested in 
seeing improvements to the laws relating to enduring 
powers of attorney and enduring powers of guardianship 
that will improve the effectiveness of those documents, 
whilst minimising the risk of abuse. We provided a detailed 
submission to the Inquiry, and shared further information 
at a subsequent hearing of the Committee. 

Guardianship Laws Review
State Trustees welcomed the Victorian Government’s 
decision to refer these laws to the Victorian Law Reform 
Commission (VLRC) for review. 

Given our important role of administering the affairs of 
almost 9,000 Victorians who are unable to do so themselves, 
State Trustees is one of the organisations with which VLRC 
is conducting detailed consultation during the course of 
the review. The VLRC has selected Alistair Craig, a senior 
lawyer at State Trustees, as a member of its Reference 
Committee, which consists of professionals and academics 
with particular expertise and experience in guardianship 
laws who can provide the commission with ongoing 
assistance and input into the law reform process. The 
VLRC is due to provide its report by 30 June 2011.

Federal Regulation  
of Trustee Companies 
Following a review process that began in 2008, a  
new federal regime for the regulation of commercial 
trustee companies and their services has been introduced, 
effective May 2010. The separate state-based legislation 
regulating trustee companies’ operations has largely now 
been repealed. When providing many of their traditional 
services, trustee companies regulated under the new 
regime will now come under a dual system of state and 
federal regulation. 

State Trustees recognised the need for careful and detailed 
early analysis of the likely effects of the proposed legislation. 
Our assessment identified that the dual system would be 
confusing and costly, especially in relation to managing 
the affairs of clients with a mental illness or disability. We 
made numerous detailed submissions seeking changes to 
address our concerns, and requesting that State Trustees 
be exempted from the federal law until the issues had been 
fixed. The Victorian Government supported our position, 
and as a consequence the Federal Government decided 
not to include us under the new law. We remain governed 
under the established Victorian trustee company law.
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At State Trustees, we see it as part of our responsibility to actively contribute to current legal and policy debates that affect 
our clients, in particular, on topics that will have an impact on the management of our clients’ legal and financial affairs.

‘These reviews are an  
important opportunity to  
have a thorough look at ways  
to make our laws work better. 
The current guardianship law 
came in nearly a quarter of a 
century ago and community 
needs and expectations have 
continued to evolve since then’
Alistair Craig 
Senior Corporate Lawyer
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STL2020
What is STL2020?
STL2020 is the name given to one of the most important change 
programs in State Trustees’ history. It relates to a new business model 
for State Trustees that will take us into the future – towards 2020  
and beyond.

STL2020 is the result of two key drivers:

1 an ageing head office building that no longer supports our  
business and accommodation requirements

2 the need for a decentralised business model so we can  
move closer to and be more accessible for our clients

1 A new headquarters
State Trustees’ workforce has grown from approximately 420 to  
560 (or 33%) in the last five years due to growing demand for our 
services. Recognising that we have outgrown our accommodation at 
168 Exhibition Street, we set about finding a new headquarters that 
could accommodate growth in staff numbers and facilitate optimal 
levels of client service. While our new headquarters will be in suburban 
Melbourne, it is envisaged that a small retail facility will be retained  
in the Central Business District (CBD), as well as the Customer Service 
Centre at Little Bourke Street.

Now having completed the necessary pre-work, negotiations are  
in progress to secure a site for State Trustees’ new head office. A 
tender process is currently underway and an announcement is 
expected in October 2010.

2 Why a decentralised business model?
A centralised model where people have to come to us in the CBD to 
access our services has been in place for a long time and has served 
State Trustees and our clients well. As both our client base and their 
needs are changing, this model is becoming increasingly unappealing, 
especially for older clients.

With advances in medical treatment, people are living longer. But with 
that comes more age-related illnesses. Dementia, for example, is rising 
and by the year 2020 there will be around 98,000 Victorians living with 
Dementia or a related illness (source: Access Economics 2010 Report 
for Alzheimer’s Australia Vic – Dementia Prevalence and Incidence in 
Victoria Key Points – AAVic Website – June 2010).

Providing legal, financial and estate solutions for these Victorians and 
their carers is a significant part of what we do at State Trustees. Over 
the coming years, the call for these services will increase dramatically 
and we need to offer a service model that will be easier for Victorians 
to access. A decentralised model with service centres across suburban 
Melbourne and a permanent presence in regional Victoria is therefore 
optimal in enabling State Trustees to best service our clients.

To support our business in achieving the goals of STL2020, State 
Trustees implemented a new organisational structure which came 
into effect on 1 October 2009. The new operating model takes a 
whole of business approach to delivering service to our clients.

Over the coming years, 
the call for services  
that State Trustees 
provides will increase 
dramatically and we 
need to offer a service 
model that will be easier 
for Victorians to access.

In the community...
On 6 May 2010 State Trustees sponsored a 
Regional State Budget Briefing and Analysis 
at Dandenong. The Briefing was delivered 
by Grant Hehir, Secretary, Department of 
Treasury and Finance. It provided an early 
opportunity for people who work in and 
with government in the South Eastern 
region to learn about the State Budget 
priorities in the coming year, and how this 
would affect their planning and programs. 
As sponsor, we were proud to welcome 
approximately 110 professionals to our new 
Southern Service Centre in Dandenong for 
the briefing.
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The opening of the Dandenong  
Southern Service Centre
In April 2010, State Trustees’ first suburban service centre, resulting  
from STL2020, opened at the Arkana Building, 157 Lonsdale Street, 
Dandenong. Following a study to determine the most appropriate 
locations for State Trustees’ service centres across Victoria, Dandenong 
was selected because of the volume of clients and employees living in 
the surrounding south east areas. The site itself is close to Dandenong’s 
transit hub, making it much easier for the local community to access 
State Trustees’ services.

Dandenong has also been identified as a Central Activity District in the 
Victorian Government’s Melbourne 2030 strategy.

Not only will our decentralised model move our services closer to our 
clients it will also move the workplace closer to many of our employees. 
Fifty-six State Trustees employees volunteered to work from the 
Dandenong office – employees who were excited about the opportunity 
to reduce time spent commuting and increase leisure time. It is expected 
that the number of employees at Dandenong Southern Service Centre 
will grow to 100 by the end of 2010.

A regional presence in Bendigo
On 9 July 2010, Victorian Premier John Brumby and Treasurer John 
Lenders announced that State Trustees would open a new regional 
office in Bendigo. Commencing as a small retail suite, this will initially 
allow clients living in and around Bendigo to access our range of 
financial and legal services.

Our longer-term plans will see the establishment of a new office 
employing approximately 100 people by 2013.

Earlier this financial year, State Trustees also developed a more 
extensive regional visitation program with regular visits to areas 
including Ballarat, Bairnsdale, Bendigo, Shepparton, Mildura, 
Traralgon, Warrnambool, Wodonga and Geelong.

These exciting developments are just the beginning of a new era for 
State Trustees, where we will become a more visible part of suburban 
and regional Victoria.

Our new Dandenong Southern Service Centre, above 
and below:

1  The new office on the corner of Lonsdale  
and Foster Streets, Dandenong

2  Signage being installed prior to the opening  
of the Dandenong Southern Service Centre

3  Inside the foyer

1
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Right: Adam Knapper’s artwork ‘With All Things Bad, There  
is a Little Good (and down came the spider)’ was awarded the  

Allan Merigan People’s Choice Award at connected09
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connected09TM

connectedTM is a highly celebrated exhibition and art  
prize open to Victorians with a disability or an experience 
of mental illness. It provides artists with a professional 
forum to display and market contemporary artwork.

On Friday July 31, 2009, connected09 was officially opened 
by Victorian Treasurer, John Lenders, to a great reception. 
More than 2000 people visited the exhibition which was 
held at the Black Box Theatre in the Victorian Arts Centre.

Since it first began in 2003, featuring just 22 artists, 
connected has grown to feature 160 works from a record 
704 entries by 2009. The 2009 exhibition helped even more 
artists get ‘connected’ with the introduction of poetry and 
animation, alongside the usual forms of art such as paintings, 
photographs, ceramics and three-dimensional works.

Linda Kaiser won 1st prize for her artworks ‘Untold Story’ 
and ‘Pawed 1+2’.

A pencil sketch portrait (below) by East Bentleigh artist 
Adam Knapper was announced the winner of the inaugural 
Allan Merigan People’s Choice Award. Mr Knapper’s winning 
artwork, titled ‘With All Things Bad, There Is A Little Good 
(and down came the spider)’, was inspired by father-son 
angst in the movie ‘Two Hands’.

Kaye Semmens, another of the artists who participated in 
connected09 says, “Art is healing and can help you express 
things you can’t express in any other way”.

Once again, State Trustees staff volunteered their time to 
help in making this a truly successful event.

connected will be held again in 2010, this time at 
Melbourne Central, La Trobe Street, Melbourne.

‘Wonderful, thought  
provoking, some  
absolute gems!’

‘A triumph in every way, 
congratulations all’

‘I’ve just been on the  
most incredible journey  
viewing these works.  
Thank you everyone!’

‘Wonderful insights  
into people’s minds’

‘A very special and  
inspiring exhibition’

Feedback from attendees  
at connected09

‘Art is healing and can 
help you express things 
you can’t express in  
any other way’
Kaye Semmens, 
connected09 artist
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We had a Ball
The State Trustees Charity Ball 2010 was held on Saturday 26 June at 
Sofitel Melbourne on Collins. The evening was a huge success, with the 
446 attendees treated to a fun night with music, comedy and dancing, 
along with fine food and beverages.

Guests were entertained by PJ Lane, son of Melbourne entertainment 
icon the late Don Lane, and entertainer in his own right, as well as Edith 
Wise, a very funny comedian who had everyone laughing. It wasn’t long 
before guests were kicking up their heels to the sounds of BigCityBeat 
and snapping up treasures from the fundraising activities which 
included an auction.

The generous contribution of our sponsors, 
suppliers, employees and guests helped us raise an 
enormous amount of money to support Alzheimer’s 
Australia Vic’s Volunteers Program. Our aim for 
fundraising was $45,000 and we were thrilled to 
have raised almost $70,000!

State Trustees is proud to host the Ball and raise funds for Alzheimer’s 
Australia Vic, an organisation which is vital to the Victorian community.

Alzheimer’s Australia Vic Chief Executive Officer Lynette Moore said 
that Alzheimer’s Australia Vic was honoured to have been chosen as  
the Charity Partner for the 2010 Ball. She said the partnership with 
State Trustees supports Alzheimer’s Australia Vic to provide information, 
education and advocacy to people living with dementia to help make 
their lives a little easier.

Thank you to everyone  
who attended, our employees 
on the organising committee 
and especially our sponsors:

• Premium Partners
Abbeys Auction Group
Burnham Real Estate
Maurice Blackburn Lawyers
Response Cleaning

• Gold Sponsors
Perpetual
PTID Environments
Russell Investments
Woodards
Yello Brands (Melbourne) Pty Ltd

• Silver Sponsors
Lander & Rogers
The Mastermind Group
Showcase Media
Stockdale & Leggo
Thomson Real Estate
Tobin Brothers Funerals

Enjoying the Ball are (left to right): Julie Elliott, Lynette Moore and Tony Fitzgerald.  
Lynette was delighted to be presented with a cheque for Alzheimer’s Australia Vic.
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Wholehearted 
Giving
If just 10% of working Australians donated $5 per week 
through their pay, an additional $260 million would be 
generated each year for the community*.

With this in mind, State Trustees launched ‘Wholehearted 
Giving’, a refreshed workplace giving program, in March 
2010.

No matter how big or small the donation made by each 
individual, by pooling it with their workmates the impact 
quickly adds up. Donating is easy and convenient, with 
donations automatically deducted from each employee’s 
pre-tax gross salary.

By investing the fortnightly donations, annual income 
earned on the fund also goes towards supporting charities 
long into the future.

Employees have the opportunity to voice their preferences  
from an agreed list of charitable causes including medical 
research, animal welfare, needy and destitute, people with 
a physical disability, psychiatric illness and intellectual 
disability, and disadvantaged Australian children. The 
three highest voted causes are allocated funding, allowing 
more substantial grants to be made.

Best of all, employees have the opportunity to hear from 
the grant recipients regarding what impact the money had 
on their organisation.

Our employees enthusiastically embraced 
Wholehearted Giving, with 388 employees 
(69%) participating in the program.

Each year State Trustees distributes $40,000 in community 
grants. Eligible Victorian community and not-for-profit 
organisations are invited to apply for a limited number of 
grants, up to the value of $5,000, for projects that support: 
older people; people living with an intellectual or physical 
disability, or with a mental illness; or people coping with 
bereavement.

Our employees have the opportunity to volunteer to be  
part of the committee which makes recommendations 
about grants to the Managing Director. Employees who 
participate find it a very rewarding experience.

From summer camps to  
vegie gardens: how we can  
make a difference
With some gentle nagging, most teenagers can be 
encouraged to clean up their room, help out with dinner  
or bring in the washing.

James, 15, and his brother have had to shoulder more 
responsibility than the average teenager. They both care 
for their older brother, who has a disability.

“My parents have looked after him all his life and they are 
having trouble coping. We dress and feed him. Anything 
that he can’t do for himself”, James said. “One of the 
hardest things is getting him to eat a proper meal. It was 
awesome the other day, he managed to finish a chicken 
schnitzel. That was a real milestone.”

James meets up with 23 other young people who are also 
caring for their disabled brothers or sisters, at the Siblings 
Program in Melbourne’s inner west. Run by MacKillop Family 
Services, the program offers young people aged between 
11 and 17 a break from their caring responsibilities. In the 
company of others their own age in similar situations, the 
kids enjoy outings and other activities. In James’ words, 
“we just have fun”.

* Source: ‘The Giving Business’ report – The Australian Charities 
Fund, United Way and Charities Aid Foundation, with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers and the Centre for Social Impact.

Community  
Grants 2010
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Community  
Grants 2010

State Trustees has provided a community grant of $5,000 to 
support a camp for this group. David Barber, State Trustees 
Senior Trust Advisor, met some of the young people who’ll 
go to the camp. David was part of the voluntary staff 
committee who recommended this program be supported.

“From working with families of people with disabilities, I 
know that it is extremely hard for carers to get respite. We 
wanted to support this program because, if you look after 
the well-being of a disabled person’s carer, that can only 
help the disabled person”, David added.

Meanwhile, in another part of Melbourne, Myles Green, a 
State Trustees Business Analyst, met a member of the Choir 
of Hard Knocks at one of Wintringham’s residential 
facilities for homeless older people.

“He helped to set up the vegetable garden that one of  
our community grants supported,” Myles explained. “We 
talked about the joy that you get from growing vegetables 
and he said he was looking forward to being able to use 
some of them in his dinner soon”, Myles added.

Another grant of $5,000 will support a summer holiday  
for 20 families who have a child with an intellectual 
disability. Karen Deltondo, a State Trustees Personal 
Financial Consultant, met some of the families who told 
her the camp will mean a lot to them.

“One of the mums told me that the camp is like a home 
away from home for them and her son loves returning to 
the same place as he has got to know some of the locals”, 
Karen said.

These are just three of the nine community grants  
that State Trustees has supported in 2010. Successful 
applicants come from many areas across Victoria, 
including inner Melbourne, Glen Waverley, Wangaratta, 
Upwey, Ascot Vale, Beaufort and Reservoir.

State Trustees Managing Director Tony Fitzgerald said 
“State Trustees’ Community Grants Program was designed 
to help community groups across Victoria continue their 
vital and often unsung work. All nine projects will make a 
big difference in the lives of many Victorians, and State 
Trustees is proud to support all of these worthy projects”.

‘ ...it is extremely hard for 
carers to get respite. We 
wanted to support this 
program because, if you 
look after the well-being 
of a disabled person’s 
carer, that can only help 
the disabled person’
David Barber,  
Senior Trust Advisor
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In the financial 
statements:

• Directors’ report 48

• Auditor-General’s  51 
independence declaration

• Corporate Governance  52 
Statement

• Statement of financial position 58

• Statement of  59 
comprehensive income

• Statement of changes in equity 60

• Statement of cash flows 60

• Notes to the financial statements 61

• Directors’ declaration 77

• Independent Auditor’s report 78

These financial statements cover both State Trustees 
Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated 
entity consisting of State Trustees Limited and STL 
Financial Services Limited.

State Trustees Limited is a State-owned enterprise.  
Its registered office and principal place of business is:
State Trustees Limited, 168 Exhibition Street,  
Melbourne Vic 3000.

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s 
operations and its principal activities is included in the 
Directors’ Report on pages 48–51, which is not part of 
this financial statement.

The financial statement was authorised for issue by 
the Directors on 30 August 2010.



financial  
statements 
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Directors’ report
State Trustees Limited’s Board of Directors has the pleasure in presenting the company  
and economic entity’s financial statements as at 30 June 2010.

1. Board of Directors
Directors of State Trustees Limited and STL Financial Services Limited in office during the financial year, and until the date of this report, are:

1  Julie A Elliott MBA (Exec), BEc, FCA, MAICD, SA Fin
Appointed: 5 March 2008 (as Director), 1 December 2008 (as Chairman) 
[Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of the State Trustees Limited Remuneration 
Committee and Member of the Investment, Compliance and Audit 
Committees.

Experience: Julie is a Chartered Accountant and has a wealth of experience 
in both Global Corporations and high-profile public sector boards spanning 
more than 20 years. Julie is currently Regional General Manager for the 
Westpac Group.

Julie has held a range of senior and professional positions, including Strategic 
Consulting for Firstwater, Global Head of Sales and Service, Payments, 
National Australia Bank, General Manager, Strategy, Marketing and Product 
Development with MLC Corporate Solutions and Senior Audit Manager with 
KPMG.

Julie was on the Board of Metropolitan Fire and Emergency Services Board 
from 2001 to 2007 and President and Chairman from 2005 to 2007, she 
also chaired the Audit Committee. During her time as Chairman she played 
a leading role in the recruitment of a new CEO and driving a cultural 
change agenda that transformed the organisation.

Julie is a graduate of Leadership Victoria (formerly Williamson Community 
Leadership program).

2  Anthony G Fitzgerald BBus, CPA, MAICD
Appointed: 25 September 2003 [Executive]

Committees: Member of State Trustees Australia Foundation Advisory 
Committee, Compliance, Investment and Remuneration Committees.

Experience: Over the last 30 years, Anthony Fitzgerald has gained extensive 
financial services experience from a number of senior roles in the National 
Australia Bank Group, both in Australia and overseas. These include Strategy 
Adviser, Global Business Financial Services, and Head of Business Marketing, 
and Business Financial Services Australia. His experience in the NAB group 
covered the areas of strategy, marketing, organisational planning, credit 
analysis, sales, and customer and outlet management.

Anthony joined State Trustees in 2002 as General Manager Estate Planning 
Solutions looking after Estate Management, Wills, Attorneyships, and Trusts 
and has been Managing Director since September 2003.

Anthony holds a Bachelor of Business Accounting from the Queensland 
University of Technology, is a CPA, and is currently National President of the 
Trustee Companies Association.

3  Paula M Allen CFA, FCA
Appointed: 1 December 2008 [Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of the State Trustees Limited Investment 
Committee and Member of the Compliance Committee.

Experience: Paula has held a range of leadership positions, predominantly 
in industry super and funds management. She was previously CEO of  
LUCRF Super, which under her leadership entered the BRW Top 500 Private 
Companies and became one of Australia’s fastest growing businesses. This 
was further recognised in industry awards, including the ‘Rising Star’ award 
for the industry. Paula helped establish a funds management business at 
Salta Properties in her role as Operations Manager, and later enhanced the 
development of the Bellwether Group, initially as Chairman and later as 
CEO. Other positions Paula has held include Australian based roles (including 
strategic and operational roles at Colonial Investments and Bankers Trust), 
as well as overseas based roles (predominantly in China and New York).

4  Linda G Berry BA LLB (Hons)
Appointed: 1 July 2004 [Non-Executive] Retired: 30 June 2010

Committees: Member of the State Trustees Limited Compliance and Audit 
Committees.

Experience: Linda has been a partner in the legal firm of Minter Ellison for 
the past 17 years and has practiced predominantly in the corporate finance 
sector for more than 25 years.

In addition, Linda is a Director of the Royal Children’s Hospital and Methodist 
Ladies College and is a former Director of the Women’s and Children’s Health 
Care Network, the Royal Children’s Hospital Research Institute and the CRC 
for Discovery of Genes for Common Human Diseases.

5  Annette W Broadfoot MBA, BBus (Acc)
Appointed: 1 December 2008 [Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of the State Trustees Australia Foundation Advisory 
Committee and member of the Audit and Investment Committees.

Experience: Annette’s work and relationships with the Victorian Government, 
various Ministers, Treasury, Chiefs of Staff, Agencies and Authorities – and her 
experience with Transport Accident Commission and Victorian Work Cover 
Authority – positions her with the skills appropriate to the requirements  
of State Trustees as a State Owned Company. Additionally, her 20 years’ 
experience in the professional services sector with the ‘Big 4’ accounting firms 
embeds a fundamental commerciality required as a member of the board of 
State Trustees. Annette has previously been a Partner with Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu where she established and led the National Board Advisory practice 
into Financial and Government Services. She has also worked with Pricewater-
houseCoopers global firm across Australia, London and New York. Annette 
was also a Senior Lecturer at Monash University (Accounting and Finance).

Annette manages her own private governance and Board evaluation 
consulting practice and is currently studying for her doctorate of business 
– the effectiveness of Australian Boards.

6  Patrick M Burroughs BSSc (Hons), FCA, FAICD, SA Fin
Appointed: 1 May 2008 [Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of the State Trustees Limited Audit Committee and 
Member of the Remuneration Committee.

Experience: Patrick is a Chartered Accountant with extensive experience in 
a range of industries including the financial services, building and construc-
tion, manufacturing and Government (health, treasury and finance) sectors.

Patrick is currently Chairman of PFS Nominees Pty Ltd and a director of 
MLC Nominees Pty Ltd and NULIS Nominees Pty Ltd, all corporate trustees 
of large public offer superannuation funds administered by MLC Ltd, a sub- 
sidiary of National Australia Bank Ltd. He is also a Director of The Royal 
Children’s Hospital Melbourne, The Companies Auditors and Liquidators 
Disciplinary (CALD) Board and The Skin Cancer Foundation Inc.

7  Dr Irene Irvine PhD Chem, BSc (Hons), DipEd, GradDip 
(Admin), FRACI, AICD, AFAIM

Appointed: 1 July 2004 [Non-Executive]

Committees: Chairman of State Trustees Limited Compliance Committee 
and Member of the Audit Committee.

Experience: Irene is an experienced Director and currently runs her own 
management consulting practice. She has held a range of senior positions 
in business development, fundraising and strategic marketing in both the 
public and private sectors (including disability services). Irene is a graduate 
of Leadership Victoria (formerly Williamson Community Leadership Program) 
and devotes much of her time to not-for-profit or charity activities. She is 
currently Deputy Chairman of the Zoological Board of Victoria and Chairman 
of their Remuneration and Governance Committee and a Director of 
Australia’s Open Garden Scheme.
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John R E Price LLB
Appointed: 1 November 2005 [Non-Executive]  
Retired: 31 December 2009

Committees: Chairman of the State Trustees Australia Foundation Advisory 
Committee, and member of the Audit, Investment and Remuneration 
Committees.

Experience: A Lawyer, John was a partner with Maurice Blackburn Cashman 
from 1984 and headed up their industrial personal injuries practice until 
retiring from the firm in 2004. An Accredited Personal Injuries specialist, 
John practiced in personal injuries litigation for over 27 years and was a 
member of the Accident Compensation Committee of the Law Institute, 
Australian Lawyers Alliance, VWA Legal Liaison Committee, and numerous 
Victorian Government working parties and advisory groups.

John has been with the Financial Ombudsman Service (formerly Insurance 
Ombudsman Service) as Referee since 2004 and is also the alternate Panel 
Chairman and Adjudicator. In addition, John is Chairman of the Appeals 
Board for Cricket Victoria as well as Code of Conduct Commissioner for 
Cricket Victoria.

Joshua (Josh) Bornstein BA, LLB (Hons)
Appointed: 1 July 2010 [Non-Executive]

Committees: Member of the State Trustees Limited Compliance and 
Remuneration Committees.

Experience: Josh Bornstein is head of Maurice Blackburn’s Employment  
& Industrial Law Section. Josh has managed the Employment & Industrial 
Law practice since 1997, including overseeing its expansion into New South 
Wales and Queensland. His clients have included executive employees, an 
ASX-listed company, the ACTU and Melbourne City Council.

Josh is a director of Maurice Blackburn Pty Ltd and Per Capita Limited, and 
is a member of the Racing Appeals and Disciplinary Board and the Advisory 
Board of the Centre for Employment and Labour Relations Law, University 
of Melbourne.

Between 2003–2005, he was Chairman of the Industrial Relations Committee 
of the Law Institute of Victoria. In 2007 he was the Chairman of its Workplace 
Relations Section and is now an Executive member of the Section.

Josh is also a member of the editorial committee of the Australian Journal  
of Labour Law and a contributor to the Australian Master Workplace 
Relations Guide, now in its 4th edition.

Robert (Bobby) Guttmann BSC (Hons), CISA
Appointed: 1 July 2010 [Non-Executive]

Committees: Member of the State Trustees Limited Investment and 
Remuneration Committees.

Experience: Bobby has over 25 years’ experience in the IT industry in a variety 
of specialist roles including IT auditor, Architect, Analyst, and Performance 
tuner. He has helped organisations find smarter, more efficient ways to 
manage and get more out of their IT functions through the effective use  
of IT Software and process frameworks.

Bobby has provided consulting services to a variety of clients both in Australia 
and internationally, mainly in the telecommunications and energy sectors. 
Bobby has authored and presented papers at a number of Australian and 
international conferences on a variety of topics, including Performance 
tuning, Database Design, IT Security, and IT Governance.

Bobby also runs his own software-based Mind Modelling consultancy.

In addition, Bobby is involved in various community organisations and is 
currently a Board member of Beit Aharon synagogue and 15th Brighton 
Scout Group.

Not pictured: John Price, Joshua Bornstein and Robert Guttmann
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3. Principal activities
State Trustees’ principal activities during the year were as trustee, 
executor, administrator, attorney and provider of other fiduciary and 
agency services.

4. Dividend
The shareholder has agreed to a three year dividend holiday commencing 
2009–10 remaining in place until the end of the 2011–12 financial year. 
This dividend holiday will be used to help facilitate the future funding 
requirements of the STL2020 investment program.

 2010 2009
 $000 $000

Interim dividend – 36

Final dividend* – 564

Total dividends for the year – 600

* The final 2009 dividend was approved by the shareholder and paid in the  
2010 financial year.

5. Review of operations
The current reporting period has had many achievements and significant 
milestones. At a corporate level we have achieved budget, whilst weather- 
ing the negative impacts of the Global Financial Crisis (GFC), developing  
a new corporate strategy and brand, establishing the initial stages of our 
de-centralised service model, known as STL2020, and setting a new 
standard for delivery of service to our clients.

In addition to the significant milestones and achievements it should also 
be noted that during the course of the year, State Trustees reached a 
mediated settlement of the ASIC sponsored group proceeding which had 
been brought against it in respect of the failed Westpoint entity, Market 
Street Mezzanine Limited. The settlement, which was covered by our 
insurers, became effective when it was approved by the Federal Court in 
February 2010.

The 2008 GFC brought many impacts such as lower interest rates and 
lower equity & property prices as a result of lower market sentiment and 
confidence. Each of these impacts had a negative impact on the income 
and assets of our clients and a negative impact on our corporate revenue 
streams. Over the past year the Australian economy narrowly avoided an 
official recession and we have seen a number of interest rate movements 
in an upward direction. The market continues to be volatile however we 
have an improved outlook on the future financial horizon.

Our revenue grew by 5.39per cent (2009:4.65per cent) to $58.436 million. 
Our corporate investment portfolio returned a positive return for the  
first time in the past three years with a contribution of $837,000 (2009: 
-$315,000). Our profit before tax was $677,000 (2009: $475,000) which 
is 3.7% above budget. The financial result was achieved as result of 
revenue growth (in client volume and average revenue per client) and 
forecasting and expense management.

Our evolved strategic direction has a new vision to be relevant, accessible 
and valued in the hearts and minds of Victorians. With our new brand 
having been developed and launched, our decentralised service model 
starting to be put in place with the opening of new facilities and plans for 
future activity we are well placed to serve the Victorian community. This 
should serve us well in our endeavours to achieve another strategic theme 
in the coming years which is based on growth.

We have seen the first full year of a recently acquired software package 
(Chameleon) which has assisted our expert legal staff to deliver a high 
quality of service at a consistency rate never before seen at State Trustees, 
in regard to our Will writing services. We have our clients’ interests at 
heart and this is just one example of how we help Victorians with their 
financial needs so they can make the most of their opportunities.

6. Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the company’s state of affairs other 
than those referred to in the financial statements or attached notes.

2. Directors’ meetings
Director Board Audit Compliance Investment Remuneration STAF† Advisory 
 Meeting Committee(b) Committee(c) Committee(d) Committee(a) Committee
 A H A H A H A H A H A H

Julie Elliott(a) 12 12 4 4 4 4 5 5 2 2 (f) (f)

Anthony Fitzgerald 11 11 3(e) 3 4 4 5 5 2 2 2 2

Paula Allen(d) 12 12 (f) (f) 4 4 5 5 (f) (f) (f) (f)

Linda Berry(h) 9 10 4 4 4 4 (f) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f)

Annette Broadfoot(i) 9 9 3 3 (f) (f) 4 5 (f) (f) 1 1

Patrick Burroughs(b) 12 12 4 4 (f) (f) (f) (f) 2 2 (f) (f)

Dr Irene Irvine(c) 11 11 (f) (f) 4 4 (f) (f) 2 2 (f) (f)

John Price(g) 4 6 2 2 (f) (f) 2 3 1 1 1 1

A Number of meetings attended.
H Number of meetings held during  

the time the Director held office 
exclusive of leave of absence.

(a) Julie Elliott is Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

(b) Patrick Burroughs is Chairman of the Audit Committee.

(c) Irene Irvine is Chairman of the Compliance Committee.

(d) Paula Allen is Chairman of the Investment Committee.

(e) Tony Fitzgerald attends the Audit Committee meetings by invitation.

(f) Director is not a member of this Committee.

(g) Directorship ended 31 December 2009.

(h) Directorship ended 30 June 2010.

(i) Annette Broadfoot is Chairman of the STAF Advisory Committee.

* In addition, all Directors attended other meetings with Management in the discharge of their duties, 
including the two strategy days/sessions

† STAF stands for State Trustees Australia Foundation



7. Matters subsequent to the  
end of the financial year

There are no circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2010 not 
otherwise dealt with in this report that have significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those 
operations or the state of affairs of the company in subsequent financial 
years.

8. Likely developments and future results
The directors advise that there are no likely developments in the company’s 
operations or expected results in future financial years to report other 
than what is reported in this report. The company is involved in a tender 
process to secure additional office space in order to accommodate its 
employees and extend its service delivery capabilities.

9. Insurance
During the financial year, State Trustees Limited paid a premium under  
a contract insuring specified officers against liability incurred in their 
capacity of working on the company’s behalf. Those officers consist of  
the Directors of the Company named earlier in this report, the Company 
Secretaries, and other Officers of the Company including certain Officers 
whose functions include managing strategic development, providing 
financial advice and human resources to the company and its related 
bodies corporate.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of premium is 
prohibited by the confidentiality clause of the contract of insurance.  
The Company has not provided any insurance for an auditor of the 
Company or related body corporate.

10. Reserve fund
State Trustees has complied with the provisions of the Trustee 
Companies Act 1984 that requires a reserve fund to be created and set 
aside by authorised trustee companies. This is reflected in the financial 
statements at Note 8.

11. Auditors’ independence declaration
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration, as required under 
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, is set out on this page.

12. Rounding amounts
The amounts contained within this report and the financial report have 
been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) under 
the option available to the company under ASIC CO 98/0100. The 
Company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of 
Directors.

Julie A Elliott Chairman of Directors

Anthony G Fitzgerald Managing Director

Melbourne, 30 August 2010
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vic gov risk man 
framewk attest’n

Victorian Government 
Risk Management 
Framework Attestation
In the context of the Victorian Government Risk Management Framework 
and State Trustees’ observance of the framework, I, Julie Ann Elliott certify 
that State Trustees Limited has risk management processes in place 
consistent with the Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard  
(or equivalent designated standard) and an internal control system is in 
place that is intended to enable the executive to understand, manage  
and satisfactorily control material risk exposures. The Board verifies this 
assurance and that the risk profile of State Trustees Limited has been 
critically reviewed within the last 12 months.

Julie A Elliott Chairman of Directors

Auditor-General’s 
independence declaration
To the Directors of State Trustees Limited

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 
1975. The Auditor-General, an independent officer of parliament, is not 
subject to direction by any person about the way in which his powers and 
responsibilities are to be exercised.

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public 
authority and for the purposes of conducting an audit has access to all 
documents and property, and may report to parliament any matters which 
the Auditor-General considers appropriate.

Independence Declaration

As auditor for State Trustees Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010,  
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a  no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit

b  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct  
in relation to the audit.

D.D.R. Pearson Auditor-General 
Melbourne, 30 August 2010
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Corporate Structure 1. Accountability

1.1 Corporate structure
State Trustees, under its enabling legislation of the State Trustees (State 
Owned Company) Act 1994 (Vic), reports to the Government of Victoria, 
and comes under the Department of Treasury and Finance. The State  
of Victoria is our sole shareholder. We have a Board of Directors, whose 
members are appointed by the Victorian Treasurer on behalf of the State 
of Victoria.

1.2 Communication with shareholder
Through the Board of Directors, State Trustees reports to the Treasurer  
as the State of Victoria’s representative. This communication includes:

• quarterly reporting on financial performance, any significant variations 
from the Corporate Plan, business risks, and general business issues;

• responding to questions arising from the quarterly reporting either  
as ad hoc reports or in direct meetings with the Treasurer or his 
representatives;

• financial statements, Directors’ reports, and the auditor’s reports as 
required by the Corporations Act 2001 (C’wealth);

• any reports requested by the Auditor General or Ombudsman; and

• responses to questions from Members of Parliament.

1.3 Executive reporting lines
Managing Director, Anthony Fitzgerald, leads State Trustees. He has 
seven general managers as direct reports. This group, known as the 
Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) meets formally each fortnight, but meets 
informally more often as required.

1.4 Performance to plan
State Trustees based its financial year operations on its ‘Strategic Plan 
2006–2011’.

We centre our key corporate performance indicators on two components: 
client feedback and financial performance.

Client feedback
Each year, we gather feedback about our clients’ experience to help us 
keep improving our service delivery.

We developed the retail services Client Value Index (CVI) during the 
2006/07 year and in 2009/10 collected data from 840 retail services 
clients. We selected these survey respondents to reflect the proportion  
of clients who have acquired various products and services from us over 
the past few years. This year we achieved a CVI score of 68%.

To ensure that client feedback is gathered in a consistent and integrated 
way across its businesses, State Trustees recently created a CVI for clients 
whose financial and legal affairs we administer. The 2010 score was 82%, 
which represents a 4% increase on last year. Feedback is gathered from 
both clients and their support network.

Financial performance
State Trustees’ budgeted profit before tax for the financial year was 
$653,000. The financial year’s actual performance was $677,000.

We budgeted for a $58.6 million financial year turnover, achieving an 
actual financial year turnover of $58.4 million.

At the close of the financial year, our total assets under management  
and trusteeship were approximately $1.7 billion.

Corporate Governance Statement
State Trustees is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance.

Our main governance practices are consistent with the Victorian Government’s ‘Good practice guide on governance 
for Victorian public sector entities’. For ease of reporting, we have addressed our governance practices through five 
key corporate public sector governance principles. Unless otherwise stated, these practices have been in place for 
the full financial year.

This corporate governance statement sets out information about our enabling legislation.

State of Victoria
(Shareholder)

Overseen by the Department  
of Treasury + Finance

State Trustees Limited

Board of Directors

Managing Director

Corporate Leadership 
Team

Senior Management 
Group
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1.5 Conflict of interest
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any 
interests that might potentially conflict with those of the Company. 
Directors are guided in this area by Board-developed procedures on 
disclosing potential conflicts of interest.

Where the Board believes a significant conflict exists for a Director  
on a Board matter, the Director concerned does not receive the relevant 
Board papers and is not present at the meeting while the item is 
considered.

2. Transparency and openness

2.1 Legislation establishing the entity
State Trustees Limited was established in July 1994 as a result of the 
State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act. The State Trust Corporation 
of Victoria was its predecessor. The stage was set for State Trustees to 
become Victoria’s first State-owned company with the 1992 State Owned 
Enterprises Act.

State Trustees was the first company that was wholly-owned by the State 
of Victoria, and is a company under the Corporations Act and a trustee 
company under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (Vic).

Although Federal legislation to regulate licensed trustee companies  
was enacted in 2009/10, State Trustees is exempt because the State of 
Victoria has decided not to request that State Trustees be licensed. State 
Trustees remains regulated under Victorian law.

2.2 Goals and strategies
State Trustees is committed to helping Victorians make the most of their 
financial opportunities. In particular, we look after the finances and estates 
of represented persons. The Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
(VCAT) places these persons under State Trustees’ care via an 
administration order.

Under the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act, the Minister is 
responsible for ensuring that services relating to managing and admini- 
stering estates and property are provided to clients who do not have the 
resources to obtain those services. The Minister does this by entering into 
a contract with State Trustees, the Community Services Agreement (CSA), 
to provide these services.

The CSA only applies to those who do not have the financial capacity to 
pay for such services. The Government pays State Trustees to provide 
these unprofitable services conditional on achieving certain performance 
standards as stipulated in the CSA.

In addition, we provide numerous services on a commercial basis to 
clients who appoint us to manage their financial and legal affairs. These 
services include Estate Planning, Executor Services, Enduring Powers of 
Attorney, Will writing, Financial Planning, Tax and Legal Services, and 
Genealogy.

Since emerging as a State-owned company in 1994, we’ve continually 
improved our customer services and accountabilities while striving for 
commercial success in the trustee-services industry.

Our three year Corporate Strategy sets out our key result areas and 
strategic objectives to be achieved over the 2010 to 2013 period.

The 2010 to 2013 corporate strategy is an evolution of our previous 
strategy with each of our key themes combined to form the building 
blocks for the future.

At the apex of our Corporate Strategy for the next three years is growth. 
Our growth strategy is a long-term initiative requiring the whole business 
to input into the activities that will drive growth.   

Engagement with our clients and the community is essential for growth.  
We will look to advocate on key issues that impact our clients and the 
community and ensure key messages aligned to these issues are 
consistently incorporated into all of our corporate communications.

Five key themes have emerged as our areas of focus for the next three 
years:

Growth – To achieve growth in our core and client generation businesses.

Client and community engagement – To deliver our brand essence of 
“Your interests at heart” and maximise our connections to the Victorian 
community. 

Financial sustainability – To ensure our business fundamentals are 
sound by providing efficient and effective services allowing us the 
capacity to grow. 

People – To create and sustain a workplace culture that supports the 
Corporate Strategy.

Service excellence – To provide excellent client service that enhances our 
client relationships and reputation and supports the growth of our 
business.

2.3 Governance structure
State Trustees’ governance structure is driven by two pieces of legislation: 
the State Trustees (State Owned Enterprise) Act and Corporations Act.

State Trustees is the State of Victoria’s first corporatised public sector 
entity. Its creation followed microeconomic reforms at the State and 
Federal level in the 1980s, which saw the push towards Government 
entities becoming commercialised, corporatised, or privatised.

Although we are a profit-oriented Government Business Enterprise (GBE), 
we are also driven by the accountabilities of private sector organisations. 
Accordingly, our governance is influenced by both private company and 
public entity principles.

For the sake of reporting our governance, we have opted for the public 
sector entity approach rather than, for instance, the Australian Stock 
Exchange Corporate Governance Principles.

2.4 Competitive neutrality
State Trustees is a public financial enterprise within the meaning of the 
Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria 2000 prepared by the Department 
of Treasury and Finance. State Trustees operates under a corporatised 
model, and pays the full suite of Commonwealth and State taxes or tax 
equivalents.

2.5 Remuneration policies
Principles used to determine remuneration
State Trustees bases its executive remuneration packages on the 
principle of reward for performance. Our remuneration framework, from 
the Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP), aims to 
align executive reward with achieving strategic objectives and creating 
value for our shareholder.

Our executive officers’ pay and reward framework has two key 
components:

• Base remuneration is structured as a total employment cost package, 
and can be delivered as a mix of cash, superannuation, and prescribed 
non financial benefits at the executives’ discretion.

Executives are offered a base pay comprising the fixed component of pay 
and rewards, which is no more than 80 per cent of the Managing Director’s 
base salary (as determined by GSERP).

External remuneration consultants provide advice on whether our execu- 
tives’ base pay reflects the financial services market for a comparable role. 
The Remuneration Committee reviews senior executives’ base pay annually 
to compare competitiveness with the financial services market. There are 
no guaranteed base pay increases fixed in any senior executives’ contracts.

• Short-term incentives are available to each executive depending on the 
role’s accountabilities and impact on organisational and business unit 
performance. Senior executives can receive a bonus of up to 20 per cent 
of total base remuneration, which the Remuneration Committee 
approves.

3. Integrity

3.1 Reporting quality
Relevant legislation and accounting standards guide State Trustees’ 
financial reporting.

While we have only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, we have 
numerous stakeholders who are interested in our ethics and performance.

Key to all our activities is the safety and security of our funds under trust 
for both represented persons and the broader public.

We inform stakeholders of our effectiveness in achieving these goals 
through our Annual Report, which we produce in hard copy, and make 
available online at www.statetrustees.com.au.
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Our staff, who are influential stakeholders in providing services to our 
clients, are continually updated on our performance. Staff attend quarterly 
presentations given by the Managing Director and can follow these up on 
the company intranet. We update our clients with a number of specifically- 
targeted quarterly newsletters that outline our activities.

3.2 Audit Committee
State Trustees has a formal Audit Committee comprising non-executive 
Directors. At its discretion, the Audit Committee invites our internal and 
external auditors, the Managing Director, General Manager Corporate 
Operations, and Financial Controller to committee meetings. Section 5.2 
of this Corporate Governance Report gives further details of this 
Committee.

3.3 Code of conduct
State Trustees is committed to operating ethically. We have a Code  
of Conduct, our public statement of how we conduct our business and 
treat clients and staff, and use it to communicate how we expect staff  
to act with honesty and integrity at all times.

Our Code of Conduct contains specific clauses relating to confidentiality, 
email and information technology, conflict of interest, and personal beha- 
viour. It expressly addresses dealing with breaches and non-compliance 
with the Code.

Confidentiality
We expect staff to maintain and respect the confidentiality and privacy  
of clients’ personal and financial information. Staff must not use or disclose 
any confidential information for any unauthorised purpose, including  
for personal use or to benefit a third party. An essential part of all staff 
employment arrangements is adherence to our Code of Conduct.

When dealing with represented persons’ affairs, we refer staff to the sec- 
recy obligations set out in section 17 of the State Trustees (State Owned 
Company) Act, and remind them that we are subject to other privacy 
obligations that may include the Privacy Act 1988 (C’wealth), Information 
Privacy Act 2000 (Vic) and Health Records Act 2001 (Vic) depending on 
the circumstances.

Conflict of interest
Our Code of Conduct draws attention to conflict of interest. We advocate 
acting with honesty and integrity in all aspects of our business. In keeping 
with this value, we require staff to take care to avoid real or apparent con- 
flicts of interest between their private affairs and our business. We define 
conflicts of interest as situations where a staff member has a personal 
interest that may influence (or even appear to influence) the way they 
perform their official duties.

We regularly revise our Code of Conduct. All new employees receive a 
copy during their induction training. It is also available on our intranet, 
and we require staff to confirm electronically that they have read and 
understood it. At that time, we also give staff the opportunity to ask 
questions in relation to any aspect of the Code they don’t understand.

3.4 Whistleblowers’ protection
State Trustees is committed to the aims and objectives of the Whistle- 
blowers Protection Act 2001 (Vic). We don’t tolerate our staff at any level 
acting improperly at any time, nor do we take reprisals against those who 
come forward to disclose improper conduct.

We recognise the value of transparency and accountability in how we do 
business.

We support staff disclosing conduct that is corrupt, involves substantial 
mismanagement of public resources, or substantial risk to public health 
and safety or the environment.

We take all reasonable steps to protect staff who make such disclosures 
from any detrimental action relating to that disclosure. We also provide 
natural justice to the person who is the subject of the disclosure.

Compliance with the Whistleblowers Protection Act
State Trustees encourages staff to report known or suspected incidences 
of improper conduct or detrimental actions. We have procedures to 
protect from reprisals a person who makes a disclosure and to properly 
investigate and deal with any disclosures.

Our procedures include disclosure mechanisms, and confidentiality pro- 
visions that guide the roles and responsibilities of designated protected 
disclosure co-ordinators, protected disclosure officers, investigators, and 

welfare managers. We regularly remind staff of the Whistleblowers’ 
legislation and procedures.

There was one protected disclosure during the financial year which was 
referred to the Ombudsman and is currently under investigation by the 
Ombudsman.

State Trustees Whistleblowers’ contacts
State Trustees staff can disclose possible improper conduct or detri-
mental action to our protected disclosure co-ordinator, Client Relations 
Manager, Tim Wilkinson, who is available on (03) 9667 6200. They can 
also contact our protected disclosure officers Andrew Schuette, General 
Manager, People and Culture on (03) 9667 6882) and John Dennison, 
Manager, Compliance and Risk Management on (03) 9667 6459.

We will refer all correspondence, phone calls, and emails from internal  
or external whistleblowers to the protected disclosure co-ordinator. If a 
person contemplating making a disclosure feels uncomfortable doing so 
on State Trustees premises, they can request a meeting in a discreet 
location away from the workplace.

3.5 Environmental activities
State Trustees is not subject to any significant environmental regulations. 
However, we are committed to achieving a high standard of environmen-
tal performance. We have a number of initiatives that aim to reduce our 
environmental impact. These include:

• maintaining a paper recycling program;

• using low energy/high light output fittings;

• saving water by implementing dual-flush cisterns;

• undertaking a cartridge recycling program for all printer and 
photocopier toners;

• using photocopiers with energy-saving capacities; and

• disposing of light tubes via the EPA waste management system.

The Board is not aware of any breaches of its environmental practices 
during the period covered by this report.

4. Stewardship

4.1 State Trustees’ main functions
State Trustees’ main functions, established under the State Trustees 
(State Owned Company) Act are to provide:

• trustee services for government and individuals;

• personal administration services;

• specialised legal, financial and tax services including Will making, 
establishing Powers of Attorney, Financial Planning, managing 
compensation funds, Genealogy Services, and Trust Administration; 
and

• funds management services and investment products.

4.2 Stewardship activities
Providing personal administration services, specifically to represented 
persons, is a core element of our business. In these cases, VCAT’s 
Guardianship List has appointed State Trustees as administrator of the 
affairs of people who are deemed unable to make reasonable judgements 
in respect of their estate.

VCAT’s Guardianship List started in July 1998, replacing the former 
Guardianship and Administration Board. The Tribunal and the Office of 
the Public Advocate both play a crucial role in determining whether a 
person needs an administrator.

Any person may apply to VCAT seeking the appointment of an admini-
strator. They may nominate a person such as a family member, friend, 
accountant, solicitor, State Trustees, or a private trustee company who 
they consider could undertake the role. The Public Advocate may also 
apply to the Tribunal to appoint a guardian or administrator, or to review 
appointment arrangements.

In cases where the applicant doesn’t nominate an administrator, or VCAT 
considers the nominee unsuitable, for example, where there is significant 
family conflict, VCAT may appoint State Trustees or another suitable 
administrator.
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Subject to the Guardianship and Administration Act 1986 (Vic) and the 
administration order, an administrator:

• is responsible for managing the represented person’s estate;

• takes possession and care of, recovers, collects, preserves, and 
administers the property and estate, and generally manages the 
represented person’s financial and legal affairs; and

• exercises all rights relating to the estate that the represented person 
might exercise if she/he had legal capacity.

In exercising such wide powers, the legislation requires administrators to 
act in the represented person’s best interests. As administrator, we take 
into account the represented person’s wishes and try to encourage and 
help them become capable of administering their own estate.

Functions of an administrator
Typically, an administrator performs the following functions on behalf  
of a represented person:

• prepares and periodically reviews their financial plan and budget;

• manages real estate and other assets;

• collects income including ensuring they receive all of their 
entitlements;

• manages liabilities and pays accounts as they fall due;

• attends to taxation matters;

• helps them accumulate savings to enable them achieve their 
aspirations;

• invests available funds; and

• manages legal and associated issues.

State Trustees currently administers close to 9,000 represented persons, 
managing their assets in excess of $800 million.

Represented persons
Ages and circumstances of represented persons vary significantly. About 
37 per cent are older than 60, around 53 per cent are between 31 and 60 
years, and the remaining 10 per cent are under 30 years of age. All have 
some form of disability such as intellectual impairment, a mental disorder, 
brain injury, or dementia that impact on their ability to make reasonable 
decisions.

As a State-owned company, State Trustees must perform its functions for 
public benefit by:

• operating its business as efficiently as possible consistent with prudent 
commercial practice; and

• maximising its contribution to the economy and the State’s well being.

In adopting commercial practice, a company would not normally accept 
administrator appointments in circumstances where it would incur a loss. 
Losses could occur by undertaking unprofitable activities designed to 
meet community and social objectives.

Community Services Agreement

Agreements have been in place between State Trustees and the Minister 
responsible for the Department of Human Services since July 1994, and 
covers services to a range of State Trustees clients.

We deliver these services under legislation that includes the State Trustees 
(State Owned Company) Act, Administration and Probate Act 1958 (Vic), 
Trustee Act 1958 (Vic), and Guardianship and Administration Act. In part, 
these ensure that members of the public have access to services relating 
to managing and administering their estates and property.

In 2009/10, State Trustees received income of $16.1 million under the 
agreement.

Service improvements

Over the past decade or so, we have implemented numerous 
improvements to client services. These include:

• increasing client accessibility by establishing a dedicated customer 
service centre in Melbourne’s CBD;

• appointing a client relations team and establishing a coordinated  
client contact program throughout Victoria;

• establishing an office at VCAT to provide immediate access to  
services for our clients, VCAT applicants, and Tribunal members;

• creating a new property facilitator team charged with providing 
immediate response to urgent property issues such as securing  
homes, motor vehicles, and other valuables including pets;

• enhancing client communication by providing regular service 
information to clients and the broader community;

• appointing a client relations officer to deal formally with any 
complaints received;

• regularly meeting key stakeholders and advocacy groups to allow  
them to raise concerns and give input into service delivery initiatives. 
These meetings also provide an opportunity for us to explain our 
administration role, responsibilities, and obligations;

• developing new information systems to improve service delivery 
efficiency, particularly in managing clients’ financial affairs and file 
management;

• developing specialist teams to focus on particular client needs. For 
example we have a pensions team to verify entitlements, a quality 
review team to assess the quality of work provided for clients, and  
an intensive needs team especially for clients with particular needs;

• establishing the Financial Independence Program and Intensive 
Support Program; and

• opening a service centre in Dandenong – Southern Service Centre –  
to better meet the needs of clients.

We take seriously our stewardship of our clients’ affairs, and of being 
responsible for making these economic welfare services available. We 
choose our consultants carefully to ensure they are empathetic to clients 
needs; we provide these services fairly, sensitively, and confidentially.

4.3 Compliance and risk management
Risk management

The Board oversees State Trustees’ risk management and compliance 
framework. We have a management framework for assessing, monitoring, 
and managing operational activities, financial reporting, and compliance 
risks.

Our risk management framework is structured and transparent. Built  
on the Risk Management Standard AS/NZS 4360, it allows us to identify, 
assess, and manage risk across the company systematically and consis- 
tently. The framework also defines reporting processes to manage 
exposures at an appropriate level across the organisation.

We are currently reviewing our policy and framework so that we align to 
the new Australian Standard AS/NZS 31000:2009.

The Managing Director and key senior managers make up the Risk 
Committee of Management, which is responsible for supporting the Board 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to identifying, assessing, 
and managing risk, and adhering to internal risk management policies 
and procedures. In this role, the committee has delegated authority from 
the Board to approve and oversee risk management processes.

Working with the executive and senior management, the compliance and 
risk management team helps management mitigate risks by identifying 
business risks and controls. The team also monitors and regularly reports 
to both the Board and management on the status of risk across the 
organisation.

All staff are trained to understand their compliance responsibilities and 
the processes and policies for reporting and rectifying breaches.

Compliance and control
State Trustees is committed to meeting strong compliance and ethical 
standards. Our Compliance Policy guides us in meeting our ongoing and 
continuously changing compliance requirements and obligations.

The policy, which overarches our annual Organisational Compliance  
Plan, reflects the Company’s commitment to compliance. We developed 
this policy to meet the standards in Australian Standard AS3806 – 
Compliance Programs.

To help us more effectively manage our financial services compliance 
responsibilities, we have a management committee titled the Australian 
Financial Services (AFS) Licence Committee. This committee reviews and 
monitors ongoing compliance with AFS licence obligations. Its key 
responsibilities include:

• reviewing key risks to compliance with AFS licence obligations,

• resolving AFS licence issues and informing the Managing Director  
of risk discussions and outcomes, and

• assessing materiality of compliance breaches and recommending 
remedial action according to our Breaches Policy and Procedures.
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Fraud control
State Trustees has a number of management systems, process controls, 
and procedures directed at preventing or minimising the risk of fraud.

The Risk Committee of Management oversees and reviews any investiga-
tion, then reports its findings and recommendations to the Managing 
Director. All instances of fraud must be reported to State Trustees’ Board.

Business continuity planning
State Trustees has a Business Continuity Plan which is a framework 
designed to ensure that critical processes continue if a serious unplanned 
event occurs that may disrupt the business.

5. Leadership

5.1 Board of Directors
Board composition
The organisation’s sole shareholder is the State of Victoria. It is 
represented by the Treasurer who selects the State Trustees’ Board.

Details of the Board members, their experience, expertise, qualifications, 
terms of office, and independent status are set out in the Board of 
Directors section of the Directors’ Report.

There are seven non-executive directors and one executive director at 
the date of signing the Directors’ Report.

The Board seeks to ensure that:

• at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate  
balance between Directors with experience and knowledge of the 
Company, and Directors with an external or fresh perspective; and

• the Board’s size is conducive to effective discussion and efficient 
decision-making.

The Board’s guiding principles
The Board operates according to the broad principles set out in its 
charter, which details the Board’s role, composition, and responsibilities. 
These are additional to the Company’s Constitution. The Company Secre- 
tary reviews the Board of Directors’ Charter at least annually and the 
Board receives recommended changes for its approval. The Company 
Secretary and the management representative responsible for preparing 
the relevant committee’s papers review each committee’s charter at least 
annually. Any recommended changes to committee charters are submitted 
to the respective committees, and any changes that are approved are 
then submitted to the Board for its approval.

Chairman and Managing Director
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring Directors are 
properly briefed in all matters relevant to their role and responsibilities, 
facilitating Board discussions, and managing the Board’s relationship with 
the Company’s senior executives.

The Managing Director is responsible for implementing group strategies 
and policies.

The Board charter specifies that the roles of Chairman and Managing 
Director are not to be held by the same person.

The Board’s role
The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance to the Company within  
a framework of prudent and effective controls that enables risk to be 
assessed and managed. The Board:

• sets the Company’s strategic aims;

• ensures that the necessary financial and human resources are  
in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

• reviews management performance;

• sets the Company’s values and standards; and

• ensures that the Company understands and meets its obligations  
to stakeholders.

The Board has delegated responsibility for operating and administering 
State Trustees to the Managing Director, the Corporate Leadership Team, 
and senior management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal 
authority delegations.

Independent professional advice and access to company 
information
Each Director has the right to access all relevant State Trustees’ 
executives and information and, subject to prior consultation with the 
Chairman, may seek independent professional advice from a suitably 
qualified adviser at the Company’s expense.

Board processes
The full Board holds 11 scheduled meetings each year, plus strategy and 
extraordinary meetings as needed to address specific significant matters 
that may arise. During January, when a formal Board meeting is not 
scheduled, Directors receive update reports from the Managing Director 
and Financial Controller.

The Chairman, Managing Director, and Company Secretary prepare 
meeting agendas. Standing items include the Managing Director’s report, 
updates from Board committee meetings, financial reports, strategic 
matters, governance, risk management and compliance. All Directors 
receive Board papers at least four days before meetings. Executives are 
regularly involved in Board discussions and Directors have other oppor- 
tunities for contact with a wider group of employees.

Conflicts of interest are noted and declared at each Board meeting. 
Directors make declarations of private interests to Government annually 
with changes noted and declared at each Board meeting.

Governance review
During 2009/10, the Company undertook a major review of its governance 
arrangements. Many recommendations arising from the review have 
been implemented, with the remainder to be completed in 2010/11.

Continuing Professional Development
During the 2009/10 year, the Board formally adopted a Continuing 
Professional Development (CPD) Policy to encourage its Directors to 
further develop their skills and expertise through high-quality learning 
and professional development opportunities.

5.2 Board committees
The Board has established a number of committees to help it perform  
its duties and allow detailed consideration of complex issues. Its current 
standing committees are the Audit, Compliance, Investment, and Remun- 
eration Committees, as well as the State Trustees Australia Foundation 
(STAF) Advisory Committee. Generally, committee structures and member- 
ship are reviewed annually. In the case of the STAF Advisory Committee, 
members who are not State Trustees’ representatives are appointed for 
three years.

Each committee has its own written charter setting out its roles and 
responsibilities, composition, structure, membership requirements, and 
the manner in which the committee operates. We review these charters 
annually. We also regularly review the chairmen and members of each 
committee as part of normal Board governance. During the year we  
made changes to the Audit, Compliance, Investment, Remuneration 
Committees, and STAF Advisory Committee, details of which are below.

The Board and all the committees (except STAF Advisory Committee) have 
at least one closed session each year without management being present.

All Board committees have authority, within the scope of their responsibil- 
ities, to seek any information they require from any employee or external 
party. They may also undertake any other activities consistent with their 
charters.

The number of times each committee met during the year, and committee 
members’ attendance record, are disclosed in the table of directors’ 
meetings in the Directors’ Report.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises four non-executive Directors. 
The Committee’s Chairman is Patrick Burroughs, and its members are 
Julie Elliott, Annette Broadfoot and Irene Irvine. During the year, John 
Price and Linda Berry resigned and, effective 1 July 2010, Irene Irvine was 
appointed.

The Audit Committee, at its discretion, invites the internal and external 
auditors, Managing Director, General Manager Corporate Operations, and 
Financial Controller to attend its meetings.

The Committee advises on establishing and maintaining a framework of 
internal control for managing State Trustees.

The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the internal audit 
program conducted each financial year.

The internal auditors help the Board ensure compliance with internal 
controls and risk management programs by regularly reviewing how well 
the compliance and control systems function.

The Audit Committee also holds an annual meeting with the internal  
and external auditors without management being present.

The Auditor General is the organisation’s official external auditor, but  
he has contracted State Trustees’ external audit to Ernst & Young. The 
company outsources the internal audit function to Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu.

The Audit Committee:

• oversees financial reporting and statutory accounts, and corporate 
accounting policies;

• reviews, approves and monitors the system of internal controls;

• reviews the external audit plan; and

• in conjunction with the Compliance Committee sets an internal  
audit program.

Compliance Committee
The Compliance Committee comprises four non-executive Directors  
and one executive Director. The Committee’s Chairman is Irene Irvine,  
and its members are Julie Elliott, Anthony Fitzgerald, Paula Allen and, 
effective 1 July 2010, Joshua Bornstein. During the year Linda Berry 
resigned and, effective 1 July 2010, Joshua Bornstein was appointed.

Under its charter, the committee reviews State Trustees’ compliance  
with all relevant legislative, regulatory and contractual obligations, 
reviews and monitors how State Trustees’ overall compliance framework 
is maintained and implemented, and assesses and monitors business 
risks as they relate to compliance.

The Compliance Committee’s main responsibilities include:

• reviewing management compliance reports and monitoring 
management responses to compliance issues;

• meeting with the managed investments compliance plan auditors;

• monitoring the effectiveness and completeness of compliance 
reporting;

• monitoring and overseeing compliance with relevant legislative, 
regulatory, and contractual obligations (of a non-financial or 
non-accounting nature);

• reviewing and approving the process used to identify, monitor, and 
manage compliance-related risks;

• ensuring that where compliance breaches are identified, appropriate 
and timely reporting occurs and appropriate rectification strategies  
are implemented on a timely basis; and

• reviewing and approving the design of the annual compliance 
program.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee comprises four non-executive Directors  
and one executive Director. The Committee’s Chairman is Paula Allen  
and its members are Julie Elliott, Anthony Fitzgerald, Annette Broadfoot 
and, effective 1 July 2010, Robert (Bobby) Guttmann. During the year  
John Price resigned and, effective 1 July 2010, Bobby Guttmann was 
appointed.

The Investment Committee’s main responsibilities include:

• overseeing the actions of management in relation to investments, 
other than for:
i financial accounting and reporting;
ii compliance with regulatory requirements and unit pricing policies;
iii compliance by the custodian with its contractual obligations;

 which are the responsibility of the Audit or Compliance Committees;

• overseeing management’s supervision of Russell Investments, 
Macquarie Investment Management, Vanguard Investments and 
Perpetual Investment Management;

• considering on an annual basis, taking into account the views of the 
Compliance Committee in relation to compliance issues, the suitability 
of the appointed external service provider to continue to provide 
custodian and investment administration services for the investments.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises four non-executive Directors 
and one executive Director. Julie Elliott is its Chairman. Its members  
are Anthony Fitzgerald, Patrick Burroughs and, effective 1 July 2010, 
Joshua Bornstein and Bobby Guttmann. Irene Irvine was a member 
throughout 2009/10. During the year, John Price resigned.

The Remuneration Committee operates according to its charter. It  
advises the Board on general remuneration and incentive policies  
and practices, and makes specific recommendations on remuneration 
packages and other employment terms for the Managing Director  
and other senior executives.

Remuneration of executives, including the Managing Director, is 
determined with reference to the GSERP.

The Committee also oversees management succession planning and 
reviews and makes recommendations to the Board on superannuation 
arrangements.

State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF) Advisory 
Committee
The Committee’s Chairman is Annette Broadfoot and its current 
members are Anthony Fitzgerald and Rhonda Galbally, Robert Knowles 
AO and Lawrence St Leger, three non-director members with a strong 
background in community services and philanthropy.

During the year John Price resigned as Chairman and member of  
the Committee, and Annette Broadfoot was appointed to both roles.  
John Annison also resigned from the Committee.

The role of the STAF Advisory Committee, which meets at least once  
a year, is to recommend how the STAF income should be distributed  
to, or benefit eligible charitable recipients. Grants for this purpose are 
generated from income earned on donations where the donors have  
not made requests for grants to specific charities.



 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
 Notes $000s $000s

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 4,331 2,431

Receivables 6 9,472 9,706

Investments in managed investments  8,777 11,397

Advancements to clients  2,577 2,856

Prepayments  1,392 848

Income tax equivalent  – 121

Total current assets  26,549 27,359

Non-current assets
Property, plant, and equipment 7 25,160 22,659

Deferred tax assets 4 3,530 2,934

Total non-current assets  28,690 25,593

Total assets  55,239 52,952

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Payables 9 5,228 4,857

Income tax equivalent  240 –

Employee entitlements  5,868 5,135

Total current liabilities  11,336 9,992

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 4 469 376

Employee entitlements  1,304 1,396

Total non-current liabilities  1,773 1,772

Total liabilities  13,109 11,764

Net assets  42,130 41,188

EQUITY

Contributed equity 10 12,462 12,462

Reserves  19,843 18,148

Retained profits  9,825 10,578

Total equity  42,130 41,188

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
 Notes $000s $000s

Revenue from continuing operations
Commissions and fees  41,225 39,851

Community Services Agreement revenue  16,061 15,447

Other operating revenue 3 1,150 152

Total revenue  58,436 55,450

Expenses from continuing operations
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 2,928 2,547

Lease rental charges – operating leases  1,173 753

Audit expenses 19 147 147

Employee benefits expense  42,452 41,115

Other expenses 3 11,059 10,413

Total expenses  57,759 54,975

Profit from continuing operations  
before income tax equivalent  677 475

Income tax equivalent expense/(benefit) 4 386 (192)

Net profit  291 667

Other comprehensive income

• Fair value revaluation of land and buildings  1,251 (2,211)

• Income tax equivalent (expense)/benefit  (36) 663

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  1,215 (1,548) 
for the period, net of tax

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  1,506 (881)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated entity  2010 2009 
 Notes $000s $000s

Cash flows from operating activities     
Commissions and fees received  41,533 38,311

Community Services Agreement income received  16,172 15,966

Payments to suppliers  (12,004) (13,341)

Payments to employees  (42,313) (39,810)

Corporate investment income  1,014 216

Payments of income tax equivalent  (685) (512)

Net cash flows from operating activities 13b 3,717 830

Cash flows from investing activities     
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment  31 172

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment  (4,183) (3,448)

Proceeds from redemption of interests in  
managed investment schemes  7,190 15,534

Payments for interests in managed investment schemes  (4,291) (14,681)

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (1,253) (2,423)

Cash flows from financing activities     
Dividends paid  (564) (1,229)

Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  (564) (1,229)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  1,900 (2,822)

Cash and cash equivalents  
at the start of the financial year  2,431 5,253

Cash and cash equivalents at the  
end of the financial year 5 4,331 2,431
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2010

Statement of cash flows
for the financial year ended 30 June 2010

The above statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated entity 2010 Contributed Asset Retained General Total 
 Equity Revaluation Earnings Reserve 
   Reserve

 $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

Total equity at the start of the financial year 12,462 10,002 10,578 8,146 41,188

Profit for the period – – 291 – 291

Other Comprehensive income – 1,215 –  1,215

Total Comprehensive income for the period – 1,215 291 – 1,506

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     
Dividends provided for or paid – – (564) – (564)

Profits transferred to / from General Reserve – – (480) 480 –

As at 30th June 2010 12,462 11,217 9,825 8,626 42,130

Consolidated entity 2009

Total equity at the start of the financial year 12,462 11,550 11,910 7,376 43,298

Profit for the period – – 667 – 667

Other Comprehensive income – (1,548) – – (1,548)

Total Comprehensive income for the period – (1,548) 667 – (881)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners     
Dividends provided for or paid – – (1,229) – (1,229)

Profits transferred to / from General Reserve – – (770) 770 –

As at 30th June 2009 12,462 10,002 10,578 8,146 41,188
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Note 1. Corporate information
The financial report of State Trustees Limited (the Company) for the 
year ended 30 June 2010 was authorised for issuance in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on 30 August 2010.

State Trustees is a State-owned company. The State of Victoria is the sole 
shareholder.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are 
described in the directors’ report.

Note 2. Summary of significant  
accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has  
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The 
financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except 
for land and buildings and financial assets and liabilities held at fair value 
through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand ($000) dollars unless otherwise stated.

Advances to the client are subject to an approval process prior to issue 
and are reviewed for impairment by divisional management.

Compliance with IFRS
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

Principles of consolidation
This is the consolidated financial statements for State Trustees Limited 
and its controlled entity, collectively referred to as the ‘Group’. The 
Statement of Financial Position of the Parent is disclosed in Note 15.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany 
balances and transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred out of the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable to the extent it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:

Commissions and fees
Commissions and fees are charged and earned pursuant to the published 
schedule of fees. Revenue is recognised on an accruals basis when the 
service is provided.

Community Services Agreement (CSA) revenue
Revenue is received from the State of Victoria under the CSA agreement. 
This revenue is based on State Trustees providing financial services 
management to the community as defined by the agreement, and is 
recognised on an accruals basis when the service is provided.

Interest revenue
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest 
method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using 
the effective interest rate. This rate exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends and Trust Distributions
Dividends and Trust Distributions are recognised when the right to 
receive the payment is established.

Impairment of assets
State Trustees Limited conducts an annual internal review of asset values, 
which is used as a source of information to assess for any indicators of 
impairment. External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, 
technology and economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for 
indicators of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount is calculated. An impairment 
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value, less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating 
units).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position and  
cash flow statement comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value.

Receivables
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an 
allowance for impairment.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an 
operating unit level. Individual debts that are known to be uncollectible 
are written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or 
debts more than 60 days overdue are considered objective evidence of 
impairment.

Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial.

Investments and other financial assets
Recognition and derecognition
Investments in financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. All 
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, 
i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset. Financial 
assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or been transferred.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial Assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss. Gains or 
losses on financial assets are recognised in profit or loss and the related 
assets are classified as current assets in the Statement of Financial Position. 
These financial assets are designated on the basis that they are a group 
of financial assets which are managed and have their performance 
evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the risk management 
and investment strategies of the group as disclosed in Note 29. The Group’s 
financial assets consist of investments in unlisted trusts which are valued 
at the redemption value per unit as reported by the manager of the 
investments.

Receivables
Receivables are recorded at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method less impairment. They are included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which 
are classified as non-current.

Controlled unlisted companies
Investments in controlled unlisted companies are measured at cost and 
impairment is tested annually.

Notes to the financial statements



62

Property, plant, and equipment
Land and buildings are measured at fair value, based on periodic  
but at least triennial valuations by external independent valuers, less 
accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses 
recognised after the date of the revaluation.

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such cost includes 
the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost 
of replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is 
performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and 
equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. All other 
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the specific assets as follows:

Buildings 34 years
Building refurbishment 12 years
Leasehold improvements Lease term
Furniture and fittings 13 years
Computers 4 years
Office equipment 7 years
Telephone system 5 years
System development 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

There has been no change to the depreciation rates. Systems 
development costs that will produce long-term company benefits are 
amortised and depreciated over an asset’s useful life. The assets’ residual 
values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
if appropriate, at each financial year-end.

Land and building revaluations
Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation reserve 
included in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 
decrement for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in 
which case the increment is recognised in profit or loss.

Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it offsets a previous revaluation increment for the same asset, 
in which case the decrement is debited directly to the asset revaluation 
reserve to the extent of the credit balance existing in the revaluation 
reserve for that asset.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amounts of the assets and the net amounts 
are restated to the revalued amounts of the assets.

Land and buildings were revalued to recoverable amounts subject to 
existing use as at 30 June 2010 in accordance with AASB 116. In June 2010, 
the directors obtained an independent valuation of the company-owned 
land and buildings. The independent valuer was CB Richard Ellis.

Disposal
An item of property, plant, and equipment is derecognised on disposal or 
when we can expect no further future economic benefits from its use or 
disposal.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds 
with the carrying amount. These are included in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve relating to the 
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Payables
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost. Due to their short 
term nature they are not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods 
and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year 
that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition.

Employee benefits and provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obli- 
gation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at 
the reporting date using a discounted cash flow methodology. The risks 
specific to the provision are factored into the cash flows and as such a 
risk-free government bond rate relative to the expected life of the 
provision is used as a discount rate.

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and 
annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting 
date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discoun- 
ted using market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Accounting for goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where the 
GST incurred is not recoverable. In this case, it is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or part of the expense item as applicable.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement 
of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and 
the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified as part of operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

Income tax
State Trustees is a state government-owned entity listed on the register of 
the National Tax Equivalent Regime. As such, it is required to account for its 
taxation liabilities in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, 
and the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 as required. All tax payment 
obligations are administered to the Department of Treasury and Finance.

It pays tax as calculated in accordance with the respective taxation 
legislation to the Victorian Government Consolidated Fund.

Deferred tax assets/liabilities
The calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured in accordance 
with Accounting Standard AASB 112. As such, State Trustees accounts for 
the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the same way 
that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. Thus, 
for transactions recognised in profit or loss, related tax effects are also 
recognised in profit or loss. For transactions and other events recognised 
directly in equity, any related tax effects are also recognised in equity.

A deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability will be recognised for all 
temporary differences that arise for the difference between the carrying 
value of the asset or liability and its tax value.

Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in 
future periods in respect of deductible temporary differences, the carry 
forward of unused tax losses and the carry forward of unused tax credits. 
A deferred tax asset shall be recognised for the carry forward of unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that 
future profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are amounts of income taxes payable in future 
periods in respect of taxable temporary differences.
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Tax consolidation
State Trustees has formed an income tax consolidated group consisting 
of State Trustees Limited (STL) and STL Financial Services Limited 
(STLFSL). STL is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.

The entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax 
funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity. 
Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, STLFSL has agreed to 
pay/receive a tax equivalent payment to or from STL based on the current 
tax asset or liability of the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts 
receivable from or payable to the other entity  
in the tax consolidated group.

The tax sharing agreement entered into between the members of the tax 
consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation of 
income tax liabilities between the entities should STL default on its tax 
payment obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial 
statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts 
under the tax sharing agreement is considered remote.

Executor Services revenue accrual
Revenue is accrued for executor services over the estimated service period. 
The time taken to administer an estate can vary due to complications or 
other circumstances. The fees and charges can vary due to the nature of 
estimates used for estate values and commission rates. Revenue is brought 
to account, on a straight-line basis, over a nine-month period, except 
where the estate is completed earlier and the remaining revenue is 
brought to account.

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares of the company are classified as equity.

Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

New accounting standards and interpretations
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures:
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous 
financial year except as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian 
Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations, which are significant  
to the Group as of 1 January 2009:

• AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures effective 1 January 2009

• AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised 2007) 
effective 1 January 2009

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amended Standard requires additional disclosures about fair value 
measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value measurements related to all 
financial instruments recognised and measured at fair value are to be dis- 
closed by source of inputs using a three level fair value hierarchy, by class. 
In addition, a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance 
for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as significant 
transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. The amendments also 
clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to deriv- 
ative transactions and assets used for liquidity management. The fair 
value measurement disclosures are presented in note 22. The liquidity 
risk disclosures are not significantly impacted by the amendments.

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements
The revised Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. 
The statement of changes in equity includes only details of transactions 
with owners, with non-owner changes in equity presented in a reconcilia-
tion of each component of equity and included in the new statement of 
comprehensive income. The statement of comprehensive income presents 
all items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, 
or in two linked statements. The Group has elected to present one 
statement.

Other amendments resulting from the Annual Improvements Project  
to the following Standards did not have any impact on the accounting 
policies, financial position or performance of the Group:

• AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Change in  
Accounting Estimates and Error

• AASB 110 Events after the Reporting Period

• AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment

• AASB 117 Leases

• AASB 118 Revenue

• AASB 119 Employee Benefits

• AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation

• AASB 138 Intangible Assets

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently 
been issued or amended, but are not yet effective and have not been 
adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2010, are outlined below.

i AASB 2009-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project (AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 
117, 118, 136 & 139)

 The amendments to some Standards result in accounting changes  
for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes, while some 
amendments that relate to terminology and editorial changes are 
expected to have no or minimal effect on accounting.

 The application date of the standard is for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

 If these accounting standards had been adopted, we do not believe 
that there would have been a material impact to either the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income for the year to 30 June 2010 or the 
Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010.

ii AASB 2009-11: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 
127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12)

 The revised Standard introduces a number of changes to the accounting 
for financial assets, the most significant of which includes:

• Two categories for financial assets being amortised cost or fair value.

• Removal of the requirement to separate embedded derivatives in 
financial assets.

• Strict requirements to determine which financial assets can be 
classified as amortised cost or fair value, Financial assets can only  
be classified as amortised cost if (a) the contractual cash flows from 
the instrument represent principal and interest and (b) the entity’s 
purpose for holding the instrument is to collect the contractual  
cash flows.

• An option for investments in equity instruments which are not held 
for trading to recognise fair value changes through other comprehen- 
sive income with no impairment testing and no recycling through 
profit or loss on derecognition.

• Reclassifications between amortised cost and fair value no longer 
permitted unless the entity’s business model for holding the asset 
changes.

• Changes to the accounting and additional disclosures for equity 
instruments classified as fair value through other comprehensive 
income.

 The application date of the standard is for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

 If these accounting standards had been adopted, we do not believe that 
there would have been a material impact to either the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for the year to 30 June 2010 or the Statement 
of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010.

iii AASB 2009-12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and 
Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052)

 This amendment makes numerous editorial changes to a range of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations.

 The amendment to AASB 124 clarifies and simplifies the definition of  
a related party as well as providing some relief for government-related 
entities (as defined in the amended standard) to disclose details of all 
transactions with other government-related entities (as well as with 
the government itself).

 The application date of the standard is for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
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 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 3. Other revenue and expenses

INCOME

Other revenue from operating activities

• Profit/(Loss) on sale of fixed assets  26 117

• Interest received  287 350

• Distributions from managed investments  456 970

• Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value  381 (1,285)

  1,150 152

EXPENSES

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation   

• Building  350 365

• Building improvements  358 364

• Leasehold improvements  433 372

• Fixtures and fittings  128 113

• Computer and office equipment  1,516 1,176

• Telephone system  4 9

• Motor vehicles  118 106

  2,907 2,505

Amortisation

• System development  21 42

  21 42

Total  2,928 2,547

Other expenses

• Corporate  4,574 4,400

• Building and office  3,364 3,062

• Marketing and advertising  1,238 1,130

• Information system  946 917

• Travel and motor vehicle  491 496

• Other  446 408

  11,059 10,413

64
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 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 4. Income tax equivalent expense
Profit/(loss) before tax  678 475

Prima facie tax at 30%  203 143

Tax effect of non-temporary differences:

• Capital Allowance  (10) (212)

• Imputation Credits and Other  139 (61)

• Adjustment on prior year  54 (62)

Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit  386 (192)

Total income tax expense comprises movements in:

• Current tax expense  803 574

• Deferred tax expense  (539) (704)

• Adjustment on prior year  122 (62)

  386 (192)

Taxable and deductible temporary differences arise from the following:

2010
Consolidated entity

Opening 
Balance
$000s

Charged to 
income
$000s

Charged to 
Equity
$000s

Closing 
Balance
$000s

Gross deferred tax assets

• Provision for doubtful debts 15 (6) – 9

• Provision for employee entitlements 2,201 289 – 2,490

• Provision for accrued expenses 185 144 – 329

• Accrued audit fees 11 18 – 29

• Accrued Lease expenses – 117 – 117

• Carry forward capital losses 471 (37) – 434

• FBT – 7 – 7

• Fixed Assets 51 64 – 115

Total income tax expense  
attributable to operating profit 2,934 596 – 3,530

Gross deferred tax liabilities

• Unrealised gains on investments (10) (58) – (68)

• FBT (1) 1 – –

• Asset revaluation reserve (365) – (36) (401)

(376) (57) (36) (469)

 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and at bank  791 2,231

Short term money market deposits at call  3,540 200

Total cash assets  4,331 2,431

Note 6. Receivables (current)

Debtors  1,268 1,498

Less: Provision for doubtful debts  (30) (50)

   1,238 1,448

Accrued income  8,234 8,258

Total current receivables  9,472 9,706
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 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 7. Property, plant, and equipment
Land  4,500 5,250

Revaluation of asset  400 (750)

Net book value – land at fair value  4,900 4,500

Building
Opening value  12,250 13,750

Additions at cost  8 79

Revaluation  851 (850)

Elimination of accumulated depreciation  (709) (729)

  12,400 12,250

Opening accumulated depreciation  –

Depreciation for the year  709 729

Elimination of accumulated depreciation  (709) (729)

  – –

Net book value –building at fair value  12,400 12,250

Leasehold improvements
Opening value at cost  1,941 1,876

Additions at cost  2,259 65

  4,200 1,941

Opening accumulated depreciation  1,182 811

Depreciation for the year  432 371

  1,614 1,182

Net book value – leasehold improvements  2,586 759

Furniture and fittings  
Opening value at cost  2,131 2,068

Additions at cost  756 63

Disposals  – –

  2,887 2,131

Opening accumulated depreciation  1,485 1,372

Depreciation for the year  128 113

  1,613 1,485

Net book value – furniture and fittings  1,274 646

Computer and office equipment  
Opening value at cost  16,026 12,832

Additions at cost  1,144 3,194

  17,170 16,026

Opening accumulated depreciation  12,365 11,180

Depreciation for the year  1,520 1,185

  13,885 12,365

Net book value – computer and office equipment  3,285 3,661

Motor vehicles  
Opening value at cost  764 597

Additions at cost  49 542

Disposals at cost  (48) (375)

  765 764

Opening accumulated depreciation  199 413

Depreciation for the year  117 106

Accumulated depreciation on disposals  (43) (320)

  273 199

Net book value – motor vehicles  492 565
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 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 7. Property, plant, and equipment continued

System development  
Opening value at cost  10,048 10,045

Additions at cost  – 3

  10,048 10,048

Opening accumulated depreciation  9,965 9,923

Depreciation for the year  22 42

  9,987 9,965

Net book value – system development  61 83

Net book value – capital WIP additions  162 195

Total property, plant and equipment  25,160 22,659

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) has not been taken into account in determining the carrying amounts of land and 
buildings. The land and buildings were acquired before CGT was introduced. The economic entity is not liable  
to pay CGT except with respect to building refurbishments since the introduction of CGT.

Note 8. Reserve Fund – Trustee Companies Act
Under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (the Act), a reserve fund of not less than half of one per cent of  
the value of company-managed trust estates in Victoria must be provided (refer to note 18). In the event that  
a liquidator, receiver or manager is appointed, reserve fund monies are to be paid from the trustee company 
according to Section 39(3) of the Act. Section 38 of the Act requires the company to place assets into a  
reserve fund. These assets must be managed consistent with requirements of the Trustee Act 1958.

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and 
buildings to the extent that they offset one another.

On 30 June 1999, in keeping with legislation amending the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994, 
the corpus amounts held by Common Funds managed by the parent entity were paid to State Trustees and 
transferred to a general reserve. The movement in the general reserve reflects a transfer of $480,000 in 2010 
(2009: transfer of $770,000) from/(to) Retained Profits. 

Assets comprising the Reserve Fund  
Land and building: Note 7  17,300 16,750

Reserve fund requirements: Note 18  8,626 8,146

Surplus  8,674 8,604

Note 9. Payables (current)
Trade creditors, unsecured  1,210 995

Other creditors, unsecured  2,204 1,499

Staffing costs and packages  1,567 2,069

Unearned revenue  247 294

Total current payables  5,228 4,857

Note 10. Contributed equity

Share capital  
Ordinary shares  

(12,461,664 fully paid shares, 2009: 12,461,664)*  12,462 12,462

  12,462 12,462

* There was no movement in issued shares for the year.

The entity has only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, which owns all the ordinary shares. This entitles  
the holder to receive dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company that is in proportion to the 
number of, and amounts paid on, the shares held.
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 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 11. Commitments

Operating lease commitments  
Not later than one year  1,084 824

Later than one year but not later than five years  3,403 543

Later than five years  3,123 –

Operating lease commitments  7,610 1,367

Operating expenditure contracted for is payable as follows  
Not later than one year  355 202

Later than one year but not later than five years  1,028 274

Later than five years  583 –

Operating expenditure commitments  1,966 476

Capital expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:
Not later than one year  – –

Capital expenditure commitments  – –

Note 12. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets
STL is seeking reimbursement of expenses incurred in a  
client-related matter. Realising the receivable depends on  
selling a property, the title to which is encumbered  
with a caveat.  5 5

Total contingent assets  5 5

Contingent liabilities: Performance bonds  
Guarantee in favour of the ASX Settlement and Transfer  
Corporation Pty Ltd (CHESS membership)  500 500

Guarantee in favour of ASIC (AFS Licence)  20 20

Total contingent liabilities  520 520

Note 13. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
a. Cash reconciliation  

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes  
cash at bank and on hand, and short term money market deposits  
at call, as shown in Note 5.

b. Reconciliation of net cash inflow from net profit after tax  
to net cash provided by operating activities  

Net profit after income tax  291 667

Add/(less): non-operating activities  

• sale of fixed assets  (26) (117)

Adjustments for non-cash income and expense items:  

Depreciation and amortisation expense  2,928 2,547

Changes in assets and liabilities  

• Income tax equivalent balance from the parent entity  240 –

• Deferred tax liability  57 (110)

• Deferred tax asset  (596) (594)

• Employee entitlements  641 959

• Receivables  355 (900)

• Prepayments  (544) (194)

• Payables  371 (1,428)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  3,717 830
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Note 14. Controlled entities
The consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2010 include the following controlled entities. The financial 
year of the controlled entities is the same as that of the parent entity.

Controlled entity
Place of 

incorporation
Type of 
shares

Book value of  
parent entity’s 
investment in $ % of shares held

Contribution to 
the results in 

$000s

STL Financial 
Services Limited Australia Ordinary

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

5.2m 5.2m 100 100 325 1,018

STL Financial Services Limited has $5.2 million of paid up capital and this has allowed it to satisfy the  
Australian Financial Services Licence requirements in respect of minimum net tangible assets. The State  
of Victoria is State Trustees Limited’s ultimate parent.

Note 15. Parent Entity Information – State Trustees Limited

Information relating to State Trustees Limited: 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000

Current assets  19,571 20,951

Non-current assets  33,568 30,540

Total assets  53,139 51,491

Current liabilities  11,235 10,405

Non-current liabilities  1,712 1,767

Total liabilities  12,947 12,172

Issued capital  12,462 12,462

Retained earnings  7,971 8,709

Asset revaluation reserve  11,217 10,002

General reserve  8,626 8,146

Total shareholders’ equity  40,276 39,319

Profit or loss of the parent entity  305 350

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity  1,520 (1,198)

Contingent liabilities: Performance bonds
Guarantee in favour of the ASX Settlement and Transfer  500 500 
Corporation Pty Ltd (CHESS membership)

Guarantee in favour of ASIC (AFS Licence)  20 20

State Trustees Limited (parent entity) has entered into the operating  
lease commitments and operating expenditure commitments as  
disclosed in Note 11 of these financial statements.

Note 16. Economic dependency
A significant portion of revenue is received from the State of Victoria via the Community Services Agreement.  
A five-year agreement expires on 30 June 2012. This contract is between State Trustees Limited and the 
Department of Human Services (refer to the Statement of Comprehensive Income).
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Note 17. Related party disclosures

Key management personnel
State Trustees’ key management personnel include the directors and those executives  
reporting directly to the Managing Director.

Directors
The following persons held the position of company director during the past financial year:

Julie A Elliott Anthony G Fitzgerald*

Paula M Allen (appointed 01/12/08) Linda G Berry (retired 30/06/10)

Annette W Broadfoot (appointed 01/12/08) Patrick M Burroughs

Dr Irene Irvine John R E Price (retired 31/12/09)

*A G Fitzgerald is the managing director as well as a member of the executive. All of his remuneration is  
included in the remuneration table for company directors.

Executives
The following held executive positions during the past financial year:

Anthony G Fitzgerald Managing Director

Angela Burton General Manager Personal Financial Solutions

Andrew Lloyde General Manager Client Operations

Andrew Schuette General Manager People and Culture

Doug Sumner General Manager Sales and Marketing

John Brennan General Manager Strategy and Network Development

Prue Willsford General Manager Corporate Operations

Ross McDonald General Manager Client Services

David Johnstone General Manager Personal Financial Solutions (retired)

Alexandra Axford General Manager Corporate Relations & Marketing (redundant)

The remuneration of the company directors is tabled below.

2010

$000s

2009

$000s

Base remuneration 529 531

Short-term incentives 44 42

Termination benefits – –

Post-employment benefits 52 53

Total remuneration of directors 625 626

The remuneration of the key executives is tabled below.

2010

$000s

2009

$000s

Base remuneration 1,458 1,397

Short-term incentives 265 238

Termination benefits 194 –

Post-employment benefits 154 147

Total remuneration of executives 2,071 1,782

In 2009/10 we have moved the disclosure of this note to an accruals basis. We have restated the 2009 
amounts to be on a consistent basis (accrual method). Given that previously amounts were disclosed on  
a cash basis, the amount of bonuses paid in the 2008/09 financial year relating to the 2007/08 year for 
directors were $55,000 and for the executive $238,000.
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Note 17. Related party disclosures continued

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The principles underlying our remuneration policies are outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement. 
Remuneration is based on the Government Sector Employment Remuneration Panel (GSERP) framework.  
This is structured as a total employment cost package, delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed non-financial 
benefits at the executives’ discretion. Executives receive no more than 80 per cent of the Managing Director’s 
base salary (as determined by GSERP). In addition, they are offered short-term incentives to the maximum of  
20 per cent of total base remuneration.

Other transactions with key management or entities related to them
There are no other transactions with key management personnel in the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

Transactions with STL Financial Services Limited
The parent entity entered into the following transactions during the financial year with its controlled entity.  
It advanced and repaid amounts on short-term inter-company accounts. These are repayable on demand.

Consolidated  
entity

Parent 
entity

2010 
$000s

2009 
$000s

2010 
$000s

2009 
$000s

Dividend payments received – – 399 701

Amounts receivable (current) – – – –

Amounts payable (current) – – – 451

Inter-company tax related receivables – – 88 –

All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.

Transactions with inveST and Premium Funds
On 1 January 2009, a new range of managed investment schemes known as the inveST Funds were introduced 
and the Premium Funds were progressively wound-up over the period February to April 2009. The Group  
moved investments from the Premium Funds to the inveST Funds.

Group Investments in the inveST Funds:

Consolidated  
entity

Parent 
entity

2010 
$000s

2009 
$000s

2010 
$000s

2009 
$000s

inveST Australian Equity Fund 720 1,090 166 510

inveST Property Fund 438 579 101 270

inveST International Equity Fund 944 1,718 221 798

Total investment in inveST funds 8,777 11,397 2,045 5,316

Fees and Commissions received from

Premium Funds – 2,987 – 53

inveST Funds 3,257 1,247 3,257 1,247

Common Funds 4,787 3,499 4,787 3,499

Total fees and commissions 8,044 7,733 8,044 4,799

STL Financial Services Limited received fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the Premium Funds. 
State Trustees received fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the inveST Funds. State Trustees 
received fees in its capacity as Manager and Trustee of the Cash and Charitable Common Funds, and in its 
capacity as Custodian of the Premium Funds. Premium funds no longer exist and no fees were earned in 2010.

Directors’ interests
There are no Directors’ interests in any of the Funds managed by the Group.



7272

 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

Note 18. Client assets under management and trusteeship
Total client assets under management and trusteeship were as follows. These amounts are not reflected in  
the Statement of Financial Position as they are held in trust on behalf of the entities’ clients.

Investments, real estate, personal, and other assets  917,856 875,527

Client investments in Common Funds  807,078 753,486

Total Assets under Management and Trusteeship  1,724,934 1,629,013

Note 19. Remuneration of auditors

• Audit or review of the financial statements  147 147

Total remuneration*  147 147

*Total remuneration includes remuneration paid (or due to be paid) to the auditor of the parent entity and its controlled entities.

During the year, the auditors were paid for auditing the Common Funds and inveST Funds where State  
Trustees Limited acts as trustee and responsible entity. The total amount due and payable was $252,280  
(2009: $350,222), including the $146,780 disclosed above.

During the year, the auditors were paid for auditing the State Trustees Australia Foundation where State 
Trustees Limited acts as Trustee. The total amount due and payable was $15,750 (2009: $9,810). These 
expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses – Corporate.

During the year, the auditors were paid for auditing the Residents Trust Fund where State Trustees Limited  
acts as Fund Manager and Trustee. The total amount due and payable was $14,650 (2009: $11,894).  
These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses – Corporate.

Note 20. Statement of operations by segments
The consolidated entity provides trustee and related financial services and operates predominantly  
within Victoria.

Note 21. Registered office
State Trustees Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  
Its registered office and principal place of business is:

State Trustees Limited 
168 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne, Victoria 3000

Note 22. Financial risk management
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits and financial assets  
at fair value through profit or loss. The financial instruments’ main purpose is to generate a return on the  
group’s investments. The group has various other financial instruments such as receivables and accounts 
payable that arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, market risk,  
and liquidity and cash flow risk. These risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact  
on the results from reasonably possible changes in the relevant risk variables. Information about these risk 
exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis, is disclosed below. Information about the total fair 
value of financial instruments exposed to risk, as well as compliance with established investment mandate 
limits, is also monitored by Management and the Investment Committee and reported on a monthly basis.

Interest rate risk exposures
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cashflows or the  
fair values of financial instruments. The Group has established limits on investments in interest bearing  
assets, which are monitored weekly.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates is limited to cash and short term deposits as disclosed in Note 5.  
The Group has no borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Incomes to  
a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.

The sensitivity of the Statement of Comprehensive Income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest 
rates on:

• The interest income for one year, based on the floating rate cash and cash equivalent financial assets  
held at 30 June 2010.
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Note 22. Financial risk management continued

Accounting Assumptions Variability of interest rates
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in the interest rates over the past 10 years.

Consolidated  
Entity

Equity – sensitivity of interest income Post tax profit higher/lower

+100 bps  100 bps +100 bps  100 bps

$ $ $ $

30 June 2010 69,036 (69,036) 48,325 (48,325)

30 June 2009 52,873 (52,876) 35,467 (35,467)

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. There is no significant direct foreign exchange risk exposure to the group. 
There is an indirect exposure to foreign currency through the Group’s investments in the inveST International 
Equity Fund. This exposure is not deemed significant.

Credit risk
The group’s credit risk involves counterparties failure to perform contractual obligations that will cause the 
group to incur financial losses. Concentrations of credit risk are minimised primarily by ensuring:

• Transactions are undertaken with a diverse range of counterparties, including a large amount with the 
Victorian Department of Human Services.

• A majority of transactions are undertaken with clients under our administration.

In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that exposure to bad  
debts has not been significant. There is no material exposure to a group of counterparties that is expected  
to be affected similarly by changes in economic or other conditions. The carrying amount of financial assets 
that is recorded in the financial statements represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Allowance for impairment loss
Receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. An impairment loss of $30,000 
(2009: $50,000) has been recognised by the Group.

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows:

 Consolidated entity
  2010 2009 
  $000s $000s

At 1 July  50 16

Charge for the year  49 62

Amounts written off or reversed  (69) (28)

At 30 June  30 50

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:

Total  
$000s

0–30 days 
$000s

31–60 days 
$000s

61–90 Days 
$000s

+91 days 
$000s

2010 Consolidated 9,410 9,097 31 18 264

2009 Consolidated 9,706 9,227 130 108 241

Other balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that  
these other balances will be received when due.

Liquidity and cash flow risk
Liquidity risk is the risk in either realising assets or otherwise raising sufficient funds to satisfy commitments 
associated with the entity’s operations. Cash flow risk relates to the fluctuations in future cash flows from 
holding financial instruments. Risk management guidelines adopted that are designed to minimise liquidity  
and cash flow risk are:

• Ensuring substantial cash reserves are held by the entity with major Australian banks.

• Ensuring there is no significant exposure to illiquid or thinly-traded financial instruments.

• Applying limits to ensure that there is no concentration of liquidity risk to a particular counterparty  
or market.
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Note 22. Financial risk management continued

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s 
expectations.
To monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future risks 
State Trustees monitors risk through reporting that reflects management’s expectations of future settlement  
of financial assets and liabilities. The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a  
balanced view of cash inflows and outflows.

2010 
Consolidated Entity

<6 months 
$000s

6–12 months 
$000s

1–5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

Total 
$000s

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 4,331 – – – 4,331

Receivables 9,444 28 – – 9,472

Advances to clients 2,335 242 – – 2,577

Interests in inveST Funds
> Diversified income 6,675 – – – 6,675

> Property 438 – – – 438

> Australian equity 720 – – – 720

> International equity 944 – – – 944

24,887 270 – – 25,157

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable 3,414 – – – 3,414

3,414 – – – 3,414

2009 
Consolidated Entity

<6 months 
$000s

6–12 months 
$000s

1–5 years 
$000s

>5 years 
$000s

Total 
$000s

Financial assets
Cash and deposits 2,431 – – – 2,431

Receivables 9,676 30 – – 9,706

Advances to clients 2,717 139 – – 2,856

Interests in inveST Funds
> Diversified income 8,009 – – – 8,009

> Property 580 – – – 580

> Australian equity 1,090 – – – 1,090

> International equity 1,718 – – – 1,718

26,221 169 – – 26,390

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable 2,494 – – – 2,494

2,494 – – – 2,494

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 
changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Market risk  
is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis, and minimised through ensuring that all investment 
activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate limits and investment strategies. This risk 
exposure is managed by diversifying investments and managing to a conservative asset allocation model.  
25% of our financial investments are in Growth assets (exposure to listed domestic and international equities 
through investment in managed investment schemes) and 75% are invested in defensive assets (exposure  
to cash and fixed interest through investments in managed investment schemes).
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Note 22. Financial risk management continued

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in market prices, 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual stock or broader economic factors 
affecting equity markets as a whole. Equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment in  
Managed Investment Schemes.

The effect on the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income due to  
reasonably possible changes in market factors (as represented by the equity indices) with all other  
variables held constant, is indicated in the tables below.

Accounting Assumptions Variability of equity price
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in the respective benchmark indices over  
the last 10 years.

Consolidated Entity 
30 June 2010

Change in  
equity price 

%

Effect on 
operating profit 

$

Effect on 
Statement of 

Financial Position 
$

inveST Diversified Income Fund
UBS Australian Composite Bond Index +3%

-3%
200,250

(200,250)
200,250 

(200,250)

inveST Property Fund
S&P ASX 200 Property Accumulation Index +18%

-18%
78,883

(78,883)
78,883

(78,883)

inveST Australian Equity Fund
S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Index +13.5%

-13.5%
97,150

(97,150)
97,150

(97,150)

inveST International Equity Fund
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index +16.5%

-16.5%
155,858

(155,858)
155,858

(155,858)

Consolidated Entity 
30 June 2009 

Change in  
equity price 

%

Effect on 
operating profit 

$

Effect on 
Statement of 

Financial Position 
$

inveST Diversified Income Fund
UBS Australian Composite Bond Index +3%

-3%
240,274

(240,274)
240,274

(240,274)

inveST Property Fund
S&P ASX 200 Property Accumulation Index +16%

-16%
92,688

(92,688)
92,688

(92,688)

inveST Australian Equity Fund
S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Index +12.5%

-12.5%

 
136,258

(136,258)

 
136,258

(136,258)

inveST International Equity Fund MSCI 
World Ex Australia Accumulation Index

 
+16.5%
-16.5%

 
283,496

(283,496)

 
283,496

(283,496)

Black Rock International Fund 
MSCI World Ex Australia Accumulation Index

 
+15%
-15%

 
99,905

(99,905)

 
99,905

(99,905)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The financial assets and liabilities included in the Statement of Financial Position are carried at fair value.  
The fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices at Level 2 financial instruments that are 
observable for the asset, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

The fair values of the Group’s investments in unlisted unit trusts are valued on balance date at the redemption 
price as published by the underlying Fund’s Responsible Entity.
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Note 23. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates 
its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical experience and on other various factors it 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The result of this forms the basis of the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, 
estimates and assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in 
future periods. Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant 
notes to the financial statements.

Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements 
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required in assessing 
whether deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial 
Position. Deferred tax assets, including those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary 
differences are recognised only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which  
is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits.

Bonus provision
The calculation of the bonus provision is comprised of 3 Components:

• Executive contracts

• Remuneration and benefit entitlements

• and in line with conditions outlined in the Collective Workplace Agreement 2007

Management bases its judgements and estimates on:

• Historical experience

• Current financial and non financial performance and,

• Other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances

A portion of these estimates are yet to be approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Valuation of investments
The Group has designated the classification of investments in unlisted trusts at fair value through profit or loss. 
The respective movements in fair value are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The fair 
value of investments in unlisted trusts has been determined by reference to quoted redemption prices as 
reported by the manager of these investments.

24. Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
No circumstance has arisen that has affected or may significantly affect the company’s operations since  
30 June 2010.
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In the opinion of the Directors:

a  The financial statements and notes of the company and the consolidated entity are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 including:

i  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial positions as at  
30 June 2010, and of their performances for the year ended on that date; and

ii  complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

b  there are reasonable grounds to believe that State Trustees Limited will be able to pay its debts when they 
become due and payable.

On behalf of the Board of State Trustees Limited

 
Julie Elliott Chairman of Directors Anthony G Fitzgerald Managing Director

Melbourne, 30 August 2010

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of State Trustees Limited,  
we state that:

Directors’ declaration
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Directors of State Trustees Limited

The Financial Report
The accompanying financial report for the year ended 30 June 2010 of State Trustees Limited which comprises statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of financial position, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows, a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes to and forming part of the financial report, and the directors’ declaration, has been audited. The financial report includes 
the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity, comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 
time to time during the financial year as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

The Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The Directors of State Trustees Limited are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the financial reporting requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes:

• establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies

• making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Corporations Act 2001 and Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on the  
audit, which has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The audit procedures 
selected depend on judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, consideration is given to the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used, and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Company Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Report
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report published in both the annual report and on the website of State Trustees Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2010. The Directors of the company are responsible for the integrity of the web site. I have not been engaged to report on the 
integrity of the web site. The auditor’s report refers only to the statements named above. An opinion is not provided on any other information 
which may have been hyperlinked to or from these statements. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic 
data communications, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report to confirm the information included in the audited 
financial report presented on the company’s web site.

Independence
The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General is not subject to direction by any person 
about the way in which his powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. In conducting the audit, the Auditor-General, his staff and delegates 
complied with all applicable independence requirements of the Australian accounting profession and the Corporations Act 2001. I confirm that I 
have given to the Directors of the company a written independence declaration, a copy of which is included in the Directors’ Report.

Auditor’s Opinion
In my opinion:

The financial report of State Trustees Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
a  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2010, and of their financial performance 

for the year ended on that date; and
b  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

DDR Pearson Auditor-General 
Melbourne 30 August 2010
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Notes:





This annual report details State Trustees’ business 
performance for the 2009/10 financial year.

At State Trustees we are committed to transparent and 
open reporting. The report provides a concise summary of 
our performance for the financial year ending 30 June 2010. 
It reviews our performance against our strategic objectives 
and records our financial performance in accordance with 
the requirements of the State Trustees (State Owned 
Company) Act 1994 and other regulatory requirements.

Additional copies
Copies of this annual report can be obtained by:

• Visiting our website at www.statetrustees.com.au

•  Telephoning State Trustees on 9667 6444 or  
1300 138 672 (local call cost from outside the  
metropolitan area)

Location
Our registered office and principal place of business is:

• 168 Exhibition St, Melbourne, 3000

> Phone 9667 6444

Our customer service offices

• Suite 22, 2nd floor,  
40 Montclair Ave,  
Glen Waverley, 3150

> Phone 9667 6444

• 307 Main Street,  
Mornington, 3931

> Phone 9667 6444

• Personal Financial Solutions,  
593 Little Bourke St,  
Melbourne, 3000

• Shop 4,  
157 Lonsdale St (corner of Foster St)  
Dandenong, 3175

> Phone 9667 6444

• 74 Pall Mall 
Bendigo, 3550 (opening October 2010)

> Phone 1300 138 672

For further information & to contact us

• State Trustees’ website can be accessed at:

> www.statetrustees.com.au

• For the cost of a local call,  
you can contact all our offices on:

> 9667 6444 or 1300 138 672
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Names and other personal 

details have been changed in 
order to protect confidentiality. 

Any similarity between a 
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